
 
 

 
Addenbrooke House   Ironmasters Way    Telford   TF3 4NT 

 

Continued… 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

Date Wednesday, 30 June 2021 Time 6.00 pm 

Venue AFC Telford United, New Bucks Stadium, Watling Street, Wellington, Telford, TF1 2TU 

 

Enquiries Regarding this Agenda 

Democratic Services Jayne Clarke / Kieran Robinson 01952 383205 / 382061 

Media Enquiries Corporate Communications 01952 382406 

Lead Officer Valerie Hulme – Development Management 
Service Delivery Manager 

01952 384130 

 

Committee Membership: Councillors G H Cook, N A Dugmore, I T W Fletcher, J Jones, J Loveridge 
(Vice-Chair), R Mehta, K Middleton, P J Scott and C F Smith (Chair) 

  
Substitutes: Councillors V A Fletcher, R T Kiernan, J E Lavery, G L Offland, 

S J Reynolds, G C W Reynolds, K S Sahota, W L Tomlinson and 
D R W White 

 
Scan the code with your smartphone to view this agenda and reports online at 
www.telford.gov.uk/meetings  

 
 

AGENDA 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
  

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  

3.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting Appendix A 3 - 28 
 To confirm the minutes of the meetings held on 18 May 2021, 19 May 

2021, and 2 June 2021. 
 

  

4.   Deferred/Withdrawn Applications 
 

  

5.   Site Visits 
 

  

6.   Tree Preservation Order 
 

Appendix B 29 - 40 

7.   Planning Applications for Determination Appendix C 41 - 42 
 Please note that the order in which applications are heard may be 

changed at the meeting.  If Members have queries about any of the 
  

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

applications, they are requested to raise them with the relevant 
Planning Officer prior to the Committee meeting. 
 

7.1.   TWC/2010/0828 - Land at Ironstone, Lawley, Telford, Shropshire Appendix D 43 - 54 
7.2.   TWC/2020/1068 - Site of 26 Hillside Road, Ketley Bank, Telford, 

Shropshire 
Appendix E 55 - 68 

7.3.   TWC/2021/0191 - Land adjacent 4 Tunnel Cottages, Aqueduct 
Lane, Stirchley, Telford, Shropshire 

Appendix F 69 - 96 

  

Page 2



 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee held on Tuesday, 18 
May 2021 at 2.00 pm in AFC Telford United, New Bucks Stadium, Watling 

Street, Wellington, Telford, TF1 2TU 
 

 
Present: Councillors G H Cook, N A Dugmore, I T W Fletcher, J E Lavery 
(as substitute for K Middleton), R Mehta, S J Reynolds (as substitute for J 
Jones), K S Sahota (as substitute for J Loveridge), P J Scott and C F Smith 
(Chair) 
 
In Attendance: V Hulme (Development Management Service Delivery 
Manager), I Ross (Legal Advisor) P Stephan (Principal Planning Officer),  
A Gittins (Area Team Planning Manager - West), M Rowley (Principal 
Engineer), L Lycett (Drainage and Flood Risk Team Leader), C Bebb 
(Highways Project Engineer – Development Management), C Edgington 
(Planning Officer), and J Clarke (Democracy Officer) 
 
Apologies: Councillors J Jones, J Loveridge and K Middleton 
 
PC149 Declarations of Interest 
 
Cllr I Fletcher declared an interest in planning application TWC/2019/1046 as 
he indicated that Buildwas School was part of the Multi-Academy Trust that he 
was a Board Member of. 
 
Cllr R Mehta declared an interest in respect of planning application 
TWC/2019/1046, as his wife was a GP in the medical practice in Ironbridge.  
 
PC150 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee 
held on 10 March 2021 be confirmed and signed by the Chairman. 
 
PC151 Deferred/Withdrawn Applications 
 
None. 
 
PC152 Site Visits 
 
None. 
 
PC153 Planning Applications for Determination 
 
Members had received a schedule of planning applications to be determined 
by the Committee and fully considered each report and the supplementary 
information tabled at the meeting regarding TWC/2019/1046.  
 
PC154 TWC/2019/1046 - Ironbridge Power Station, Buildwas Road, 

Public Document Pack

Page 1Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Ironbridge 
 
This was a cross boundary application for outline permission to consider 
access off the A4169, up to 1,000 dwellings, retirement village, employment 
land comprising classes B1(A), B1(c), B2 and B8, retail and other uses 
comprising classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, D1 and D2, allotments, sports pitches, 
a railway link, leisure uses primary/nursery school, a park and ride facility, 
walking and cycling routes and associated landscaping, drainage and 
infrastructure works.  
 
This application had been referred to the Committee as it was the subject of a 
S106 Legal Agreement to secure financial contributions and on-site affordable 
housing. 
 
An update report had been circulated prior to the meeting. 
 
A short video was presented to Members giving an overview of the site and 
the proposals. 
 
Councillor C Healy, Ward Member, spoke on behalf of residents in 
Coalbrookdale and Ironbridge.  She raised concerns regarding number of 
dwellings and commercial units which would have a huge impact on the 
community, although it was appreciated that this site would be developed.   It 
was also recognised that this was a brownfield site and a key development 
site for Shropshire Council and this would be difficult to refuse as under the 
NPPF it was suitable for development and a Planning Inspector would find in 
favour of development if it went to appeal.  Further concerns raised were 
additional traffic, gravel extraction and the impact on the highway, foul water 
flooding.  In respect of the passenger light railway she remained sceptical but 
happy to be proved wrong.  The increase in population was recognised but 
was mitigated against and she welcomed the improved traffic calming, the 
school and healthcare as this was an issue.  On balance it was felt due to 
mitigation measures that this was a sensible and appropriate application and 
asked Members to support the conditions set out in the report and the update 
report. 
 
Councillor I Fletcher read out a statement on behalf of Councillor J 
Greenaway (adjoining Ward Member), who was unable to attend the meeting.  
There had been a number of objections as the site sat within the Shropshire 
area but the impact would be felt within Telford and Wrekin with regard to 
services, facilities and infrastructure.  She raised concerns regarding 
increased highway traffic along the A4169, Jiggers Bank and the B5223 to 
junction 6 of the M54 and the capacity for additional traffic and HGV 
movements for site clearance and the impact on traffic from the proposed 
development.  It was felt that the Castlefields Way island would become 
backed up at peak times, there were no safe footpaths along the A4169 and 
there had been little emphasis on the impact on Lawley Way at peak time 
together with pollution and capacity on Lawley Cross Roads and West Central 
Way.  Further concerns were raised with regard to the impact on primary and 
secondary schools and the displacement of children to Much Wenlock schools 

Page 2Page 4



 

 

and the impact on the residents of Horsehay who attended William Brookes 
School.  There was no expansion plan for William Brookes school or a new 
on-site primary school.  This must be agreed prior to the development and 
carried out in the appropriate timeframe.  There would be a further impact to 
existing resident in South Telford with regard to the provision of health care.  
Applications have a duty of care to work with the CCG to provide this and the 
details were sketchy on this cross boundary application.  This was a 
significant expansion to the area and should be supported by the necessary 
infrastructure as set out by the NPPF. 
 
Mr S Ashton, the Applicant, spoke in favour of the application on behalf of 
Harworths. The development would become a new attractive and desirable 
community and would have a positive impact on leisure, the economy and 
homes.  It would produce electricity and contribute to the National Grid, the 
power station having stopped production in 2015.  The buildings had started 
to deteriorate and demolition began in spring 2019 with the remaining 
chimney due to be demolished in 2021.  All scrap metal and asbestos had 
been safely removed and work had taken place around the national grid 
building which housed switching gear with health and safety remaining key as 
this building remained live.  Public consultation had taken place which 
included two on site design workshops in 2018/2019 and a land rover tour 
which exchanged idea.  They met with councillors and presentations were 
also made to all local parish councils.  The public and 80 key consultees 
contributed to a professionally designed masterplan with education, health, 
heritage, ecology, landscape and transport all being discussed.  A website 
was also set up.    The development was supported by a masterplan and 
environmental statement and all statutory consultees raised no objections 
subjects to conditions and it was in compliance with the Telford Strategic 
Travel Plan up to 2036.    The masterplan sought to be innovative within its 
constraints and promoted the site.  The three organisations had worked 
collaboratively together to solve any issues and it was asked that Members 
support the proposals to create a new community to be proud of. 
 
The Planning Officer gave a short overview of the application which had been 
the subject of consultation.  It was situated primarily within Shropshire but had 
an impact in Telford and Wrekin and therefore needed to be considered as a 
whole with parties at Telford & Wrekin and Shropshire Council working 
collaboratively.  This development was outside of the built up area in Telford 
the local plan but was a proposed allocated strategic site in Shropshire 
Council’s emerging Local Plan Review.  There had been limited objection to 
this allocation and Shropshire Council’s reviewed Local Plan was due to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State in Summer 2021.  The site was brownfield 
land which was currently derelict.  This was a material consideration of the 
NPPF and Local Plan Policy S20 Paragraph 8.3.  The masterplan had been 
amended to meet the guidelines set out within Shropshire Council’s draft 
Policy S20.  Mitigation measures with regard to the off-site work have been 
considered in the context of Telford & Wrekin’s Local Plan. 
 
The Highways Officer informed Members that this was a large development 
which would impact local highways.  The highways were bound to the same 

Page 3Page 5



 

 

parameters of the NPPF as if it was within our borough and could only be 
prevented or refused it there was an unacceptable impact or cumulative 
impact.  Officers has assessed the matter accordingly. .  They considered the 
impact and sought mitigation and betterment wherever possible.  A computer 
transport model had been analysed and travel patterns on the permitted 
development and the new development and a holistic approach was taken up 
to 2036.  Testing on pre-covid data from 2019 and sensitivity testing had been 
undertaken and the overall conclusion was presented at 8.4 of the report.  
Traffic Management had been considered within The Gorge and had been 
developed in partnership with stakeholders.  There would be a ban on the 
physical right turn onto Buildwas Road and traffic would have to double back 
and encourage people to use the main A route up Buildwas Bank.    The cost 
of implementation would be £1m-£1.5m and the access route into the site 
over the existing road bridge would be closed to domestic traffic once the first 
250 houses had been built.  Castlefields Way would be signalled and a 
controlled pedestrian crossing installed – this scheme costing £900k.  There 
would be a £500k-£600k enhancement to the Severn Valley Way with a new 
multi-user route benefiting current users and visitors and £1m toward the 
provisional of a financially sustainable bus service.  These sums of money 
would be used to mitigate the NPPF test but gave net highway gains for 
residents and visitors.  Concerns regarding junction infrastructure works, 
diversions or rat-running an effort to keep roads open via lane switching and 
traffic management would take place and £100k had been set aside for a 
travel plan to be split between Telford and Wrekin and Shropshire.  With 
regards to the highway corridor along the A5223 Wellington Road and Lawley 
Drive, together with Lightmoor and Lawley had been considered but severe 
impact could not be demonstrated as this Bridge was under capacity. 
 
The Drainage Engineer addressed Members.  The Environment Agency were 
a statutory consultee on the site.  A risk assessment had been undertaken to 
address the flooding from the River Severn and the masterplan with within 
Flood Zones 1, 2 and 3.  Surface water flow paths were across the site and 
identified and set out as corridors.  A limit rate of surface water discharge 
would drain into the River Severn and the existing site doesn’t have any 
restrictions and the proposals could be conditioned.  There were no details 
regarding SUDS on the site at this stage.  Concerns were raised regarding the 
foul drainage and recent events on the sewage system in Dale End.  
Discussions had taken place and Harworths had submitted a technical note in 
response to this as the Developer has a right to connect to Severn Trent who 
cannot legally refuse.  Severn Trent had carried out modelling with some 
sewers being at capacity and in the medium term work would be undertaken 
to upsize and replace part of that system and conditions to mitigate were set 
out in detail.  The off-site work would take place prior to the start and 
consideration would be given to pumping rates at the point of connection.  
This was set out in the conditions as it stood with flood risks being discussed 
at the reserved matters stage. 
 
The Planning Officer addressed members regarding ecology.  A 50 metre 
buffer would be created to protect the SSSI and the ancient woodland and 
contributions requested to mitigate the increased footfall on land managed by 

Page 4Page 6



 

 

Severn Gorge Countryside Trust.  A bat house had already been provided for 
the bats on site and mitigation measures were working well, as are the 20 
great crested new ponds with deer and amphibian fencing.  The loss of and 
mitigation of the peregrine falcon nesting location was subject to a separate 
application to Shropshire Council.  Three pairs of little ringed plovers were 
breeding on the site and an area would be managed for their continued use.  
Some badger sets had been closed and some more would have to be closed, 
this would be monitored through licensing/update surveys.  Otters were using 
the site on the embankment in that area and their protection/continued use 
would be monitored.  There was limited net gain in the current calculation but 
there was a potential to increase this through the conditions/reserved matters 
application.  There would be significant retention of trees although these were 
currently subject to poor tree management.  There were a number of poplar 
trees set out in linear fashion and it was conditioned that these trees would be 
kept in their entirety to naturally screen the existing buildings.   With regard to 
noise impact, it was considered that there would be no more noise impact 
through the Gorge than already existed on the current site and a management 
plan to minimise this would be put in place, together with a dust management 
plan.  With regard to Heritage and archaeology it was considered there would 
be a less than substantial harm and the NPPF was weighed up against the 
public benefits and it was considered that the site would become derelict and 
dangerous and the benefit was housing, commercial units and leisure.  It was 
an appropriate design and the public benefits met the test.  Archaeology 
conditions were imposed in recognition of the site and the potential for 
findings under the PFA mounds.  A request had been received from the 
Healthy Spaces Officer to provide allotments, a village green and sports 
pitches as well as enhancements for Dale End Park.   Education capacity at 
Buildwas School would be increased with the use of a demountable building 
and the relocation of the nursery to the Village Hall and this had no impact on 
primary pupils in the short-term whilst the new school was being built.  One 
hundred houses would fill the secondary capacity but the S106 Agreement 
mitigated against this by providing a larger extension at William Brookes 
School.  There would be no pushback of Telford & Wrekin pupils.  Healthcare 
was not a decision that the local authority could make and this was under the 
guidance of the CCG who had not yet made a formal review of healthcare 
facilities and/or a formal monetary contribution.  However the applicants have 
committed to onsite facilities and financial contributions of £0.5m.  Network 
Rail had been reviewing the listed building application which was imminent 
and a passenger light railway was being considered by the applicant and 
feasibility studies taking place.  The passenger railway was an aspiration and 
not part of the planning consent.  Onsite footpaths would also be created 
connecting to existing public rights of way and substantial contributions had 
been achieved for the Severn Valley Way.   Although there was some impact 
on residents there was no direct residential impact due to the boundary being 
located in excess of 50m from all existing properties.  Mineral extraction would 
be undertaken over a period of 5 years with access to the quarry across a 
private road to the processing plant and minerals would be transported by a 
dump truck with only 25% being transported via HGV.  There was a mineral 
resource masterplan which included screening for A&B and the ancient 
monument and no consultees had objected.  The S106 Agreement and Memo 

Page 5Page 7



 

 

of Understanding had been independently reviewed and a viability 
assessment undertaken and the development would have 5% affordable 
housing and a S106/CIL contributions equating to £16.75 million.  The 
contributions were much greater than the affordable housing element with 
major infrastructure work, £5.1m towards primary education on site, £4.4m for 
secondary education, £250k for the Gaskell Arms junction, £65k for highways, 
£870k Castlefields Way, £10K Ironbridge, £1m for the roundabout, £1m for 
sustainable transport, £640k for sports pitches £550k for the Severn Valley 
Way, £500k healthcare, £96k public realm, £128k for Severn Gorge 
Countryside Trust for enhancement to woodland and the neighbourhood fund 
of £1m, S106 monitoring of £87k and 5% affordable housing.  This mitigated 
against issues, education, healthcare, play and recreation and the public 
rights of way.  This was a cross boundary application and it was essential that 
a Memorandum of Understanding was approved in order to ring fence the 
financial contributions and the mitigation measures.    At the heart of the 
NPPF (paragraph 11) is a presumption in favour of sustainable development 
and (paragraph 117/118) giving substantial weight to the value of using 
suitable brownfield land.  The financial contributions proposed recognised 
some of the impacts and sought to mitigate against these and contributed 
towards the local area where it was deemed necessary, this had been 
carefully considered between Shropshire and Telford & Wrekin Council.   The 
impact had been considered and mitigated through conditions, sustainable 
development, the design code and the masterplan and the recommendation 
was for approval. 
 
During the debate, some Members raised concerns regarding the sensitive 
location to the entrance of the World Heritage Site, the creation of another 
town, 80% of the traffic and the highway impact being in Telford and Wrekin, 
the creation of a rat-run through Ironbridge and Coalbrookdale, energy 
considerations and why there was no gas on site, the consequences of the 
bus service not coming to fruition, a more robust solution to flooding was 
needed and some of the proposed housing was close to the river and the 
effect on residents and businesses over the last two years, land stability and 
conditions regarding pile driving and shoring up, extensive earthworks and the 
removal of ash and contamination to the watercourses, affordable housing 
and lack of affordable housing, education and school places and ensure the 
places are included in the budget setting in order for the funding to come 
forward.  It was noted that the Development Management Service Delivery 
Manager was given delegated authority to finalise 40 conditions without the 
Committee having knowledge of what had been agreed and what effect it 
would have on the area.    Other Members felt that although there were 
concerns regarding the infrastructure, that if it went to the Secretary of State it 
would be nodded through, it was difficult to see what the alternative would be 
although at the reserved matters stage it may look different, it was difficult to 
refuse.  The provision of a light railway would be welcomed.   
 
The Planning Officer responded in respect of the gas, the application was just 
for outline permission at this stage and the application would be brought back 
for further consideration at the reserved matters stage at which point updated 
Sustainable Design Briefs would be provided.  Officers had been involved in 

Page 6Page 8



 

 

negotiations with Arriva with regards to the bus service.  With regard to 
flooding this would come forward at the reserved matters stage as it was just 
indicative at present.  There were no records of landslides in the area but that 
ground condition assessments would take place at the reserved matters 
stage.  The affordable housing at only 5% could be re-considered at the 
reserved matters stage if the viability review mechanism demonstrated that 
additional contributions could be achieved without impacting on viability.  The 
allotments were on 0.4 hectares of land but there we no specific numbers at 
this stage. 
 
The Highways Officer confirmed that Shropshire Council would secure the 
money towards the bus contribution and that it would make no sense for the 
money to be spent on alternative routes and it was hoped that there would be 
a Lightmoor/Lawley circular and that would need to be viable in the long term.  
An extensive modelling exercise had been undertaken with regard to 
highways and there was no impact from passer by trips to Ironbridge or trips 
to the shops and those trips would be sustained by the economy.  A sum of 
£150k had been secured for traffic calming measures with a possibility of 
extending the 20mph speed limit.  There would be some impact on the 
highway not modelling had not raised a material consideration or concerns 
and the £150k was sufficient to mitigate issues. 
 
The Drainage Engineer confirmed that water in Dale End comes from a 
number of sources and the development did not have an impact on the flood 
management as the flooding would not come from the proposed development, 
but there would be a sewer risk.  Each phase would need a Flood Risk 
Assessment and there would be a betterment on the site as it would hold back 
the water and release it slowly.  Ash and pollution was addressed under the 
minerals. 
 
Further questions were raised as to what the Memorandum of Understanding 
was, whether this was legally binding and had the traffic modelling been done 
anywhere else in the country to use as a benchmark and with regards to the 
bridge and weight limit would vehicles have to travel a long distance to get 
around and create a bottle neck in the system. 
 
The Development Management Service Delivery Manager confirmed that 
delegated authority, if approved, would be to finalise the terms and conditions 
for the Section 106 Agreement and Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). 
This was the agreement between Shropshire Council and Telford and Wrekin 
Council on how the monies and contributions come forward and to mitigate 
any impact and set out the timeframes for when monies needed to come 
forward and how it would be delivered.  The contributions would initially go to 
Shropshire Council and then come to the Borough Council, as agreed by the 
MOU.   She also confirmed that this would be legally binding.  It was a cross 
boundary application but was split into two – Telford and Wrekin had one 
application and Shropshire Council had their application - but once approved it 
would come together as a whole permission with one set of conditions.  
Delegated authority would give the Service Delivery Manager the ability to 
negotiate conditions.  The conditions had been drafted but if there was 

Page 7Page 9



 

 

anything specific Members required they could be added in and appropriately 
worded giving the Service Delivery Manager flexibility to make sure everything 
was included and legally binding. 
 
The Highways Officer confirmed that there was a wider Telford model which 
had been established for a number of years; benchmarking did take place.  A 
newer developing model had also been undertaken using up to date data and 
when compared to the old model, the older model was more robust.  There 
was no perfect solution and this site was a compromise.  Brownfield sites 
were a priority of the Government and there was always some element of 
disruption.  It was felt that Telford was getting a good deal from the proposed 
development. 
 
The Legal Advisor highlighted that a lot of officer effort and discussion had 
taken place to mitigate and address all areas of concern and carefully work up 
suitable conditions and obligations to mitigate harm.  Members had heard 
from their highways, drainage and other experts and the planning officer’s 
recommendation of approval was before them.  The planning conditions, S106 
agreement and Memorandum of Understanding would be part of the package 
of provisions which would secure the appropriate outcomes and mitigate 
harm. 
 
On being put to the vote it was, unanimously: 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

1.  that in respect of the cross boundary Planning Application 
TWC/2019/1046 that the application be approved, subject to a 
Section 106 agreement imposing the planning obligations outlined 
in A below, conditions and informatives set out in the report and 
update report and, if required, Telford & Wrekin and Shropshire 
Council entering in to a Memorandum of Understanding relating to 
the planning obligations, the distribution of CIL contributions and 
other arrangements (outlined in 3 below) to ensure that the 
Borough Council receives the appropriate distribution of 
developer contributions as set out in this report and the update 
report; 

 

2. that delegated authority be granted to the Development 
Management Service Delivery Manager to negotiate and agree the 
detailed terms of the Section 106 planning obligations and any 
Memorandum of Understanding as outlined at A below and in the 
report and the update report 

 

3. to note that arrangements would need to be entered into whereby 
the Council would authorise Shropshire Council to issue a 
planning permission in respect of the determination of this cross-
boundary planning application following written confirmation from 

Page 8Page 10



 

 

the Development Management Service Delivery Manager that the 
permission can be issued and subject to the Section 106 planning 
obligations and conditions and (if required) a Memorandum of 
Understanding as agreed by the Development Management 
Service Delivery Manager, as in the report and update report, be 
noted;  
 

A. 

I. Financial contribution of £5,100,000.00 together with a 
serviced plot for the provision of an On-site f 
primary/nursery school; 

II. Financial contribution of £4,400,000.00 towards 
expansion at William Brookes School for 160 pupils; 

III. On-site provision of affordable housing (5%); 
IV. Financial contribution of £250,000.00 towards 

improvements at the A4169 Smithfield Road/Victoria 
Road/Bridgnorth junction (i.e. the Gaskell Arms at Much 
Wenlock); 

V. Travel Plan Monitoring at a cost of £100,000.00 
VI. Financial contribution of £1,000,000.00 towards 

Transport/Bus Strategy (in liaison with Arriva) and to 
include education transportation requirements; 

VII. Financial contribution of £640,000.00 towards provision 
of Sports Pavilion and Sports pitch upgrades including 
implementation timetables  

VIII. Financial contribution of £550,000.00 towards Severn 
Valley Way improvements to provide 
improvements/upgrades to facilitate a multi-use route; 

IX. Financial contribution of £200,000.00 towards Severn 
Way improvements to provide connection to Buildwas 
(towards Buildwas only); 

X. Financial contribution of £500,000.00 towards healthcare 
requirements highlighted by the CCG; 

XI. On-site serviced plot for healthcare facility; 
XII. Financial contribution of £96,000.00 towards Public 

Realm improvements for Play/Recreation; 
XIII. Financial contribution of £350,000.00 towards Public 

Realm improvements for Heritage; 
XIV. Financial contribution of £128,226.00 towards tree 

management/safety inspections/planting relating to 
increased pressure/footfall within land under the 
management of SGCT; 

XV. Financial contribution of £262,509.12 towards tree 
management/safety inspections/planting relating to 
increased pressure/footfall in the Gorge, in addition to 
climate change offsetting and biodiversity net gain; 

XVI. Financial contribution of £1,000,000.00 towards Buildwas 
Parish Neighbourhood Fund; 

XVII. Financial contribution of £87,064.88 towards S106 

Page 9Page 11



 

 

Monitoring; 
XVIII. On-site serviced plot for potential Park & Ride Facility; 

XIX. Implementation timetable for NEAP/LEAP; 
 

4. that delegated authority be granted to the Development 
Management  Service Delivery Manager to agree the conditions 
and informatives contained within the report and the update 
report (with authority to finalise conditions and reasons for 
approval to be delegated to Development Management Service 
Delivery Manager). 

 
The meeting ended at 3.41 pm 

 
Chairman:   

 
Date: 

 
Wednesday, 19 May 2021 

 

Page 10Page 12



 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 19 
May 2021 at 2.00 pm in AFC Telford United, New Bucks Stadium, Watling 

Street, Wellington, Telford, TF1 2TU 
 

 
Present: Councillors G H Cook, N A Dugmore, I T W Fletcher, P J Scott 
and C F Smith (Chair) 
 
In Attendance: C Bebb (Highways Project Engineer), J Clarke (Democracy 
Officer), C Edgington (Planning Officer), A Gittins (Area Team Planning 
Manager – West), V Hulme (Development Management Service Delivery 
Manager), L Lycett (Drainage and Flood Risk Team Leader), K Robinson 
(Democracy Officer), I Ross (Legal Advisor), M Rowley (Principal Engineer), 
M Turner (Area Team Planning Manager – East)  
 
Apologies: Councillors J Jones, J Loveridge, R Mehta and K Middleton 
 
PC155 Declarations of Interest 
 
In respect of planning application TWC/2021/0046, Councillors N A Dugmore 
and J Lavery stated that they were members of Muxton Parish Council but 
neither had been involved in any discussions on this application. 
 
Councillor N A Dugmore also stated that he was the Chair of the Granville 
Country Park Management Committee.   
 
 
 
PC156 Deferred/Withdrawn Applications 
 
None. 
 
PC157 Site Visits 
 
RESOLVED – that a site visit takes place at 16:00 on 2 June 2021 at Land 
opposite, 15-22 Woodside, Coalbrookdale, Telford, Shropshire, in respect of 
planning application TWC/2020/1076. 
 
PC158 Planning Applications for Determination 
 
Members had received a schedule of planning applications to be determined 
by the Committee and fully considered each report and the supplementary 
information tabled at the meeting regarding each planning application.  
 
PC159 TWC/2010/0828 - Land at Ironstone, Lawley, Telford, 

Shropshire 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1Page 13



 

 

This was an application seeking a reduction in the number of affordable 
properties as a part of the development from 25% to 10% on viability grounds. 
An external, independent consultant had assessed the viability of the 
development.  
 
The 10% affordable provision would be delivered in the form of discounted 
homes on the open market with a 30% discount on the market value. It was 
proposed that this provision would be kept in perpetuity. The Government had 
consulted on a new “First Homes” model that would also allow first time 
buyers to purchase at a 30% discount. Even though details of the First Homes 
scheme were still awaited, it was proposed that scope should be given to the 
owner to switch to the First Homes model if the government has introduced it 
in time.  
 
Provisions in the Deed of Variation would ensure that the proposed affordable 
units remain affordable in perpetuity.  
 
Affordable units would number 60 dwellings, all of which would be two bed 
properties. It was noted that this was unusual and a variety of properties was 
preferable.  
 
Under the circumstances, Officers recommended to accept the reduction. 
 
Members expressed their disappointment at the reduction in the number of 
affordable homes being delivered by the development, however, noted that 
10% was preferable to none.  
 
Members asked officers to clarify the position regarding obligatory affordable 
housing.  
 
The Council could not ignore the viability position. If an independent viability 
assessment agreed with a developer that a development would be unviable 
then the Authority had to give that due weight. The site in question was 
originally approved for development in 2003, at a high point for the market 
followed by a downfall, at which point the site was sold. This was followed by 
a market crash in 2007/08. There had been a viability impact as a result. On 
site constraints had also been uncovered and had to be mitigated against.  
 
On being put to the vote, it was, unanimously: 
 
RESOLVED – That authority be delegated to the Development 
Management Service Delivery Manager to agree terms to vary the 
original Section 106 agreement dated 21st October 2005, insofar as it 
relates to Phase 11, to  
 
(i) Secure 10% affordable housing as discounted open market 
affordable housing, and  
 

Page 2Page 14



 

 

(ii) To enable, if appropriate, the 10% affordable housing to be 
provided as First Homes under any future government scheme, should 
one come forward before the affordable housing has been delivered 
 
PC160 TWC/2020/0047 - Lawley Phase 11, Lawley, Telford, 

Shropshire 
 
This was a reserved matters application for the erection of 600 dwellings. The 
development lay within the redline application boundary for the Lawley 
Sustainable Urban Extension. The site was previously used for mining works; 
there were a number of mineshafts still on the site, which required filling. 
 
 
The application, which was Phase 11 of the Lawley Development, would 
provide 122 two-bed, 320 three-bed, 139 four-bed, and 19 five-bed units. No 
affordable housing units were proposed.  
 
Members had received a written update on the proposed access to the site. A 
further 14 representations had been received, none of which raised any 
material considerations beyond those that had been addressed in the written 
update.  
 
Discussions had been held with the steam railway to provide a play area on 
land by the railway. It was understood to have been agreed at the start of 
2020; the Local Planning Authority had been notified that the Railway Trust no 
longer wished to accept the play area.  
 
Members heard a number of representations from members of the public.  
 
Councillor J Yorke, Parish Councillor, spoke against the application raising 
concerns over access to the development in relation to the need for the 
proposed estate roads to cross the restricted byway known as Ladygrove. 
 
Councillor J Greenaway, Ward Councillor, spoke against the application 
raising a number of objections, including flooding, access, mining and impact 
on the steam railway.  
 
Ms C Williams, a member of the public, spoke against the development 
raising concerns around the legality of the development and the ownership 
rights over Ladygrove.   
 
Mr C Wilson, the Applicant’s agent, spoke in favour of the application, and 
stated that the site was well planned and there had been no technical 
objections.  
 
Approximately 195 public representations had been received concerning 
trees, highways, and built heritage, amongst other issues. The principle of 
development had been accepted for the site and outline consent had been 
granted.  
 

Page 3Page 15



 

 

Highway considerations had been determined at the outline stage and could 
not be revisited. The development provided car parking spaces in excess of 
that required by the Council. The Applicants had confirmed that the landowner 
of Ladygrove Lane had been identified and all access rights had been 
identified. This access issue was a civil matter. The attenuation ponds would 
improve overall drainage and existing flooding and run off issues.  
 
The development was considered acceptable in reference to the impact on 
existing residents. Phase 11 would contribute 600 dwellings to the Borough’s 
housing supply, 10% of which would be affordable. The Applicants had liaised 
regularly with the public and had accommodated their desire to retain 
Martingale Circus. They had also volunteered to reduce construction hours in 
response to residents’ concerns and comments.  
 
The Legal Advisor informed members that the Council did not have to 
question or investigate the ownership of Ladygrove. Planning authorities did 
not have to double check information provided by developers. Concerns over 
whether the developers had identified the correct landowner did not prevent 
members determining this application. Further, residents’ concerns over 
private rights were an issue for the developer and, again, were not an issue 
preventing the Committee from determining the application at this time.   
 
Public Restricted byway rights over Ladygrove Lane would remain; the 
developer did not propose to remove any rights. The public would not be 
prevented from using the byway. The design of the three crossing points for 
motorised vehicles would preserve the lane’s ongoing use as a restricted 
byway. No rights would be lost because of the creation of crossings. 
Regarding a suggestion from one of the public speakers that people crossing 
Ladygrove would be committing an offence, it was pointed out that the 
Applicants had said that they had identified the landowner who had given 
authority to cross the restricted byway in motorised vehicles.  
 
Members posed a number of questions: 
 
In response to a question, the planning officer confirmed that the most recent 
statement from the Coal Authority stated that they were satisfied by the 
development as submitted. The written update provided to Members 
contained additional information that showed risks had been investigated and 
addressed. 
 
Members discussed the impact on the Steam Railway and it was confirmed 
that the developers would be providing enhancements for the railway as part 
of the scheme. The developer had a responsibility to deliver the scheme 
within the sites boundaries.  
 
On being put to the vote, it was, unanimously: 
 
RESOLVED – That delegated authority be granted to the Delivery 
Management Service Delivery Manager to grant reserved matters subject 
to: 

Page 4Page 16



 

 

  
a) No further representations being received during the consultation 
period to advertise that notice has been served on a landowner within 
the application site, which raise material considerations that are, in the 
opinion of the Development Management Service Delivery Manager after 
consultation with the Chair of Planning Committee, of such significance 
that the application should be reported back to Planning Committee for 
re-consideration and determination.  
 
b) The Applicants entering into a Deed of Variation to the Section 106 
legal agreement with the Council to provide 10% Affordable Homes on 
site as discounted market homes.  
 
c) that delegated authority be granted to the Development Management  
Service Delivery Manager to agree the conditions and informatives 
contained within the report and the update report (with authority to 
finalise conditions and reasons for approval to be delegated to 
Development Management Service Delivery Manager).  
 
PC161 TWC/2020/1087 - Site of Fernlea, Barrack Lane, Lilleshall, 

Newport, Shropshire 
 
The application was for two dwellings and the conversion of a single bungalow 
into two bungalows. Parking provision was in line with standards and 
protection around trees on the site was proposed.  
 
A site visit had taken place earlier that day.  
 
Councillor A Eade, Ward Councillor, spoke against the application and raised 
concerns regarding scale, impact during construction and access. 
 
Councillor D Shaw, a Member of the Parish Council, spoke against the 
application and raised concern in respect of the proposals being out of 
character with the local area, access and parking  
Mr P Hill, a member of the public, spoke against the application and raised 
concerns in respect of access, parking and visibility. 
 
Mr A Williams, the Applicant’s Agent, spoke in favour of the application. He 
stated that amendments had been made to the scheme and there had been 
no objection from Highways. Objections had been received in respect of the 
development, which were in the main related to the development being out of 
keeping with the area and amenity detriment. The scale of the development 
had been reduced and the design revised. The development respected the 
character of the lane and a tracking exercise had demonstrated that vehicles 
could access the road. He added that there may be some scope to move the 
plots back a couple of feet to make more space for vehicles using the road. 
 
In regards to the Lilleshall Neighbourhood Development Plan, Officers 
confirmed that the proposals were not contrary to the plan.  
 

Page 5Page 17



 

 

Members requested that the delegation be reworded to reflect the desire of 
the Committee that the car parking spaces be moved, in line with the 
comments of the Applicant’s Agent.  
 
On being put to the vote, it was, by a majority:   
 
RESOLVED - that delegated authority be granted to the Delivery 
Management Service Delivery Manager to grant full planning permission 
subject to amendments for the relocation of car parking spaces and the 
set back of the dwellings, and to finalise conditions and informative 
contained within the report. 
 
PC162 TWC/2021/0010 - Land opposite Wrap Film Systems Ltd, 

Hortonwood 40, Hortonwood, Telford, Shropshire 
 
This was a full application for an industrial development with a B2/B8 use 
class with ancillary offices. Officers noted that the applicant was incorrectly 
listed as Greenhous Group (Holdings) Ltd on the report that had been 
circulated and should read Portion Solutions Limited / Homes England / 
Stoford Telford Limited. 
 
The application was subject to a S106 agreement and was therefore, referred 
to the Planning Committee for determination It was proposed that the money 
from the s106 agreement be made available from the outset for an extended 
area in the vicinity of the development rather than simply the site frontage. 
The size of the unit had dictated the need for a car park management plan.  
 
An amendment was proposed to the recommendations; recommendation ‘a 
trigger to request £5,000 towards a traffic management scheme along the 
section of Hortonwood 40 / 60 that fronts the proposed development should it 
be required’ would be replaced with ‘£5,000 towards a traffic management 
scheme along Hortonwood 40, 45, and 60 in the vicinity of the site should it be 
required’.  
 
Ms F Norfolk, the Applicant, and Mr K Fenwick, the Applicant’s Agent, spoke 
in favour of the application. They stated that the site would be a major step 
forward for the company.   
 
On being put to the vote, it was, unanimously: 
 
RESOLVED – That delegated authority be granted to the Development 
Management Service Delivery Manager to grant full planning permission 
subject to: 
 

A.) The applicants/landowner entering into a Section 106 
agreement with the Local Planning Authority (terms to be 
agreed by the Development Management Service Delivery 
Manager) relating to the following: 

 
i. Highways contributions of: 

Page 6Page 18



 

 

a. £23,095 towards the creation of a new 
footway/cycleway along Hortonwood 60 

b. £74,565 towards Strategic Highway works 
c. £5,000 for provision of support and monitoring of the 

required Travel Plan 
d. £5,000 towards a traffic management scheme along 

Hortonwood 40, 45, and 60 in the vicinity of the site 
should it be required. 

ii. Trees and Ecology (combined) contribution of: 
£20,000 for off-site tree replacement. 

 
B.) The  Conditions and informatives as set out in the report (with 

authority to finalise Conditions to be delegated to Development 
Management Service Delivery Manager). 

 
PC163 TWC/2021/0046 - Land North/East of Lodge Road Caravan 

Site, Donnington Wood Way, Donnington Wood, Telford, 
Shropshire 

 
This was a full application for the erection of 233 no dwellings, a 76-unit Care 
Home (Use Class C2), 20 unit supported accommodation and associated 
works.  
 
The development comprised of three distinct parcels of land bounded by trees 
and fencing. There were no heritage assets on site, the site was not within a 
Conservation Area and had a flood risk rating of 1, the lowest level of flood 
risk. An adopted footpath ran through the site to Granville Park.  
 
The application was for 233 dwellings, 76 Care Home units, 20 units of 
supported accommodation, and areas of public open space, access, drainage 
and associated works. Of the 233 units, 90 would be let at affordable rates. 
Across the development, there would be 596 car parking spaces 
 
A series of public representations had been received on a variety of issues. 
Donnington and Muxton Parish Council welcomed the development but noted 
concerns. No technical objections had been received.  
 
Councillor A Lawrence, Ward Member, spoke against the application. 
Councillor Lawrence accepted development but raised concerns regarding 
overdevelopment.   
 
Mr S Thompson, Director of Development at the Wrekin Housing Group, 
spoke in favour of the application, noting the number of affordable units 
proposed, and stated that the extra care facility and supported living units 
would meet the needs of local residents. 
 
The Planning Officer informed Members that the Parish Council’s 
neighbourhood development plan was broadly supportive of this residential 
development. The traffic works raised by the public speakers were separate 
from the application but were suitable for the development.  

Page 7Page 19



 

 

 
Affordable housing had been subject to a viability appraisal and was deemed 
unviable. The Authority’s understanding was that the applicant was seeking 
affordable housing outside of the planning process.  
 
Members discussed the application and it was confirmed that each dwelling 
would have dedicated, on plot parking, all of which would include electric 
vehicle charging points.  
 
Members noted their disappointment in respect of the lack of affordable 
housing, however, it was noted that discussions were in progress with the 
applicant, Homes England and a local housing trust.  
 
On being put to the vote, it was, by a majority:  
 
RESOLVED – That delegated authority be granted to the Delivery 
Management Service Delivery Manager to grant full planning permission 
subject to: 
 
A) The applicant/landowners entering into a Memorandum of 
Understanding with the Local Planning Authority (subject to indexation 
from the date of committee with terms to be agreed by the Development 
Management Service Delivery Manager) relating to: 
 

(i) £109,953 towards local highway infrastructure 
improvements, in accordance with the Telford Transport Growth 
Strategy; 
 
(ii) £98,700 towards the upgrade of footpath routes in Granville 
Country Park, in accordance with the emerging Green Routes 
Strategy; 
 
(iii) Primary School Education £600,002.00; 
 
(iv) Secondary School Education £262,598.00; 
 
(v) POS @ £650 per 2-bed property - £138,450; 
 
(vi) £10,365.04 towards Great Crested Newt District Licencing; 
 
(vii) £15,050 Contribution towards Net Gain off-site. 

 
B) The  Conditions and informatives as set out in the report (with 

authority to finalise Conditions to be delegated to Development 
Management Service Delivery Manager). 

 
The meeting ended at 4.40 pm 

 
Chairman:   

Page 8Page 20



 

 

 
Date: 

 
Wednesday, 2 June 2021 

 

Page 9Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 2 

June 2021 at 6.00 pm in AFC Telford United, New Bucks Stadium, 
Watling Street, Wellington, Telford, TF1 2TU 

 
 
Present: Councillors G H Cook, N A Dugmore, I T W Fletcher, 
J Loveridge (Vice-Chair), R Mehta, K Middleton, G L Offland (as substitute for 
J Jones), P J Scott and C F Smith (Chair) 
 
In Attendance: I Ross (Legal Advisor), A Gittins (Area Team Planning 
Manager – West), M Bailey (Planning Officer), A Howells (Planning Officer) 
and J Clarke (Democracy Officer) 
 
Apologies: Councillor J Jones 
 
PC164 Declarations of Interest 
 
None. 
 
PC165 Deferred/Withdrawn Applications 
 
None. 
 
PC166 Site Visits 
 
None. 
 
PC167 Planning Applications for Determination 
 
Members had received a schedule of planning applications to be determined 
by the Committee and fully considered each report. 
 
PC168 TWC/2020/1076 - Land opposite, 15-22 Woodside, 

Coalbrookdale, Telford, Shropshire 
 
 
This was an application for the erection of 1 no. dwelling and shed following 
the demolition of the existing summerhouse and shed with associated 
landscaping and tree works on land opposite 15-22 Woodside, Coalbrookdale, 
Telford, Shropshire. 
 
This application was before Committee due to the number and nature of 
representations from the public against the officer recommendation and in the 
opinion of the Development Management Service Delivery Manager that this 
was sufficient to require that the application should be determined by the 
Planning Committee. 
 
A site visit had taken place on the afternoon prior to the meeting. 

Page 23



 

 

 
The Planning Officer informed Members that this application was located 
within the Severn Gorge conservation area and within the Ironbridge Gorge 
World Heritage Site and that listed buildings were in close proximity.  The site 
have been previously subject to an application for a more traditional style of 
building on a higher point of the site.  The previous application was withdrawn.  
The current application had been refined and nestled into the site which 
reduced the impact and, with reference to paragraph 196 of National Planning 
Policy Framework, Officers considered that the proposal would result in a less 
than substantial harm to the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area and the Outstanding Universal Value of the World Heritage Site.  The 
benefits were its sustainable location, the contribution to the local economy 
during and after the construction phase and the contribution to the housing 
land requirement.  It will also have environmental benefits through its 
construction methods including the collection of grey and rain water, sedum 
and moss roof, air pumps and solar gain – the rain water would be collected in 
tanks and recycled and there would be electric car charging points on site.  It 
was considered that after undertaking the necessary planning balance, with 
due weight given to the statutory presumption in favour of preservation that 
the benefits outweighed the harm.   It was requested that additional conditions 
be added to the recommendation being that the permitted development rights 
be removed;  the submission and approval of samples of mortar and brick 
bond and that the development be undertaken in accordance with the 
recommendation of the Stability Report. 
 
Mr Proudfoot spoke against the application on behalf of the local residents 
who felt that the garden land at the centre of the community was unsuitable 
for development, it was steep sloping and there would be loss of flora, fauna 
and wildlife.  This was a green space and the development could result in land 
slippage, increased traffic, drainage issues and it was against policy.  
Applications for a hardstanding at a nearby properties had been refused as it 
was believed it would cause significant harm and detract from the 
conservation area.  This proposal would cause more harm and it was 
necessary to control infill development.  It would affect the universal value, 
topographical and long range views which was legally deemed a material 
consideration.  The benefits did not outweigh the harm as there were not 
benefits to residents from the plot and was a detriment to privacy and they 
would be overlooked.  It was currently only occupied for a few hours and this 
would change.  It had been garden land since the 1800s and it would affect 
the intrinsic value and biodiversity and would contribute to a cumulative 
change to the World Heritage Site and would harm the special character of 
the location and the spirit of the community that was currently enjoyed. 
 
 
Mr Wiggins, the Applicant, spoke in favour of the application.  This was a 
complicated site on various levels which Members would have seen from their 
site visit.   The proposal before Members achieved the most appropriate and 
respectful development.  He had lived there for 20 years and have owned the 
site for 15 years and understood the site and its location and understood the 
issues that would face the people who lived opposite.  It was intended to 

Page 24



 

 

make the construction period as painless as possible and would ensure the 
contractors behaved appropriately.  The development threaded through the 
site and protected trees, flora and fauna and they had taken care to protect 
and enhance the net gain of biodiversity from the eco house.  The original 
design was hidden and it had been amended to further hide the development 
within the ground and it had a sedum and moss roof with wildflowers and 
would make the most of the topography of the site.  Previous development 
plans has put a house on top of the land.  The Applicant said that he would 
respect the neighbours’ privacy and would go above and beyond what the 
local authority required in order to prevent being able to see in through 
neighbouring windows.  He asked Members to approve the forward thinking, 
progressive and environmentally designed development. 
 
The Planning Officer confirmed that the development was proposed in 
Stability Zone 2 which imposed limited constraints on the development The 
Applicant had produced a site investigation report which confirmed that there 
was no negative impact which could not be mitigated through foundation 
design.  Car parking had been increased to 3 spaces from 2 on site and that 
this exceeded the local plan parking requirement.  A layby would temporarily 
be installed off School Road for construction vehicles and a construction 
management plan would be put in place.  There was a comprehensive 
landscaping proposal which the owners would be required to retain in 
perpetuity.  The impact on the outlook from neighbouring properties was 
noted, although the proposals met the policy testing for overlooking with no 
significant loss of privacy.  Landscaping would mitigate the visual impact and 
landscaping could be added without permission.  With regard to the test 
relating to harm to the designated Heritage Assets, the conservation area, 
World Heritage Site and listed buildings, the level of harm was considered to 
be less than substantial rather than substantial.  Substantial harm was more 
likely to arise when the proposal concerned something like the demolition of a 
heritage asset such as a listed building.  Within the range of “less than 
substantial harm” there was a sliding scale and it was determined that, as the 
proposal was designed to nestle into the landscape, it was at the lower end of 
the scale, but it was up to Members to come to their own view on this.  The 
benefits of the scheme included environmental and economic benefits.  As 
part of undertaking the balance of consideration the presumption in favour of 
preservation of the heritage asset applied and officers have had to determine 
whether the scheme was acceptable by looking at issues such as impact on 
amenity, parking spaces, stability and these were all taken into account. 
 
During the debate some Members raised issues including what had been 
done to rectify any land slippage and how would this be mitigated against, 
why the hardstanding had been refused previously on virtually the same site, 
was this the right structure for this site?, would a smaller proposal be more 
acceptable?  Concerns were raised regarding whether the innovative and 
sustainable technologies outweighed the impact on character and 
appearance, the steep slope and why UPVC windows had been refused 
previously and yet this dwelling was recommended for approval.  It was also 
suggested that the application went against policy, the objection from the 
Conservation Officer was mentioned who stated it would cause harm to the 

Page 25



 

 

Gorge and its unique characteristics.  Some Members also asked if the other 
planning refusal set a precedent and whether the two applications were 
comparable.  Other Members felt that the site was currently in an awful 
condition and it was an innovative design, with electric charging points, no 
highway issues or extra traffic concerns.  The new roof would hide the building 
which would also be hidden by trees in the summer although it may be seen in 
winter.  From the southern aspect it would be picturesque and on balance it 
was acceptable.  Some reassurance was sought on stability and it was asked 
whether the layby made for construction purposes could become a permanent 
feature. 
 
The Planning Officer confirmed that the proposed development would be in 
stability zone 2 and the report itself mentioned soils had medium potential 
volume change.  It was steeply sloping and the foundations would be 
deepened with piles to a suitable depth.  A further walk over investigation 
would be undertaken once the vegetation had been cleared.  The floor slab 
would be suspended on a raft foundation and any stability issues could be 
mitigated through foundation design..  With regard to the previous application 
for a hardstanding, this was part of a wider development including an 
extension and was further towards the junction of Woodside and School Road 
with the differences being the low hedge on Woodside and the visibility splays 
that would have produced an unacceptable open area of hardstanding – the 
proposal before you does not have any changes to the access which is 
existing and the boundaries are maintained.  The environmental credentials of 
the application o not have an impact on visual amenity but provide a benefit 
which is balanced against any harm to visual amenity.  The public benefits are 
that the development was sustainably located with no reliance on a motor 
vehicle as it was close to essential services.  The development did not need to 
be in keeping with the existing style but the visual impact is assessed and was 
considered acceptable, it was not a prominent structure and it was supported 
as it was nestled into the landscape with reduced prominence.  With regard to 
UPVC windows, this was a different test as windows have no public benefit 
and there was an alternative to UPVC ie wood.  Regarding the issues with 
regard to stability, there is not much more the applicant could have done as 
they have had a full test and designed foundations to cope with the site 
conditions.  Comments from the Conservation Officer have been balanced 
against the public benefits do not have to be considered and the planner can 
form a different view regarding the application as a whole.  Every application 
is judged on its own merits and they can produce different harms and benefits 
and no planning decision would set a precedent. 
 
On being put to the vote it was, by a majority: 
 
RESOLVED – that in respect of planning application TWC/2020/1076 that 
delegated authority be granted to the Development Management Service 
Delivery Manager to grant full planning permission subject to the 
conditions and informatives set out in the report, together with three 
further conditions covering removal of permitted development rights,  
the submission and approval of samples of brick, mortar and bond and 
requiring the development to be undertaken in accordance with the 

Page 26



 

 

recommendations of the Stability Report (with authority to finalise 
conditions and reasons for approval to be delegated to Development 
Management Service Delivery Manager).  
 
The meeting ended at 6.44 pm 

 
Chairman:   

 
Date: 

 
Wednesday, 30 June 2021 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
PLANNING COMMITTEE – 30 June 2021 
 
TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 2021 
 
REPORT OF THE ASSOCIATE DIRECTOR: POLICY & GOVERNANCE 

 
1.0 PURPOSE 
 
1.1 To inform Members of the making of a provisional Tree Preservation Order (TPO) and 

to seek its confirmation. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that Members resolve to confirm the following Order 

without modification:- 

 
 Borough of Telford & Wrekin (Woodland to the rear of 39 Ercall Lane, 

Wellington, Telford TF1 2DY) Tree Preservation Order 2021 
 

 
3.0 SUMMARY 
 
3.1 On 26 January 2021 a provisional Tree Preservation Order was made in respect of a 

group of trees (identified as W1 on the appended map – Appendix 1)  
 
3.2 On 19 February 2021 an objection to the TPO was received from the owner of the 

property in respect of the group of trees (W1).   
 
4.0 PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 
4.1 None. 
 
5.0 INFORMATION 
 
5.1 Details of Objection 
 

A copy of the letter of objection is attached to this report as Appendix 2 
 
5.2 Response of Arboricultural Officer 
 
 The response of the Arboricultural officer is attached as Appendix 3  
 
6.0 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY  
 
6.1 Not applicable. 
 
7.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



7.1 The amenity value of the trees outweighs any reasons given for their removal. 
 
8.0 LEGAL COMMENT 
 
8.1 A Tree Preservation Order is made under the powers conferred on the Borough of 

Telford & Wrekin by Sections 198, 201 and 203 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.  A Local Planning Authority may preserve trees or woodlands if it thinks it is 
expedient in the interests of amenity to do so. 

 
8.2 The Tree Preservation Order does not preclude necessary lopping or pruning.  

However, it would be necessary for the Council to consent before any such work was 
undertaken. 

 
8.3 Should an application be received for consent to fell any protected tree(s), conditions 

could be imposed to secure the replanting of suitable replacement trees. 
 
8.4 Before confirming an Order the Council must first consider any objections which have 

not been withdrawn. 
 
9.0 LINKS WITH CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
 
9.1 The making of Tree Preservation Orders is an important element in the Council’s 

priority of ensuring a sustainable environment. 
 
10.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no financial implications for the Council. 
 
11.0 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Insert ward 
 
12.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
12.1 Borough of Telford & Wrekin (Woodland to the rear of 39 Ercall Lane, Wellington, 

Telford TF1 2DY) Tree Preservation Order 2021 
 
 
For further information, please contact Ian Ross – (Team Leader Places) 01952 383255. 
ian.ross@telford.gov.uk  
 

Page 30

mailto:ian.ross@telford.gov.uk


 Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Dear  
 
Re: Your Objection to TPO 189 
 
With regard to the ancient woodland to the rear of 39 Ercall Lane.  
 
On the 22nd of January 2021, I was consulted on a Planning Enquiry, which had been received 
by Telford & Wrekin Council’s Development Management Department.  
 
The enquiry from BASE Architecture, detailed the proposal to build, nine, 4/5 bedroom dwellings 
within the woodland to the east of 39 Ercall Lane, which also included an access road within the 
woodland from Ercall Lane.  
 
Consequently, it was expedient to make the Preservation Order to protect the woodland from 
the proposed development, which in my opinion would have a detrimental effect on the amenity 
of the woodland & the trees and soils within it. 
 
The safety of the trees within the woodland would remain the responsibility of yourself as the 
owner of the land. There are processes in place should a tree be found to be in an imminently 
dangerous state or requiring immediate work. Via the ‘5 day’ notice procedure.  
 
With regard to any planned work involving a woodland management plan and felling license. 
This would require an application via the planning department, which is usually a 6 – 8 week 
process, but given that it was thinned around 2 to 3 years ago, depending on the thinning cycle 
it would potentially be a couple more years before any more work is required on a 5 year cycle 
but more if it is on a 10 year rotation.          
 
The tree preservation order is aimed at protecting the woodland from development and not 
preventing its management.  
 
Yours sincerely  
Gavin Onions 
Tree and Woodland Officer. 

01952 384384 

 

 
 

 

Customer & Neighbourhood Service, Community Safety, Environmental Enforcement & Community Cohesion, Addenbrooke House, 
Ironmasters Way, Telford, TF3 4NT 

 
 

 

 

Date: 8th of March 2021    Our Ref: TPO 189 Your Ref: TPO 189 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



CAUTION: This email originated from outside Telford & Wrekin Council's 
network. Do not click links or open attachments unless you are sure the content is 

safe. 
Dear Jayne Clarke, 
 
In-relation to the letter I received this morning reference the Tree Preservation Formal Notice.  
 
I  my rear garden backs onto the wood area which is outlined on 
your plan and I do have a question in respected to the up keep of the wood. We have already had 
one of the large trees fall in to our garden and demolish several small trees and a fence and at 
present we have other large trees which are leaning into our garden and could fall at any-time 
causing more damage or even injury to me or my family. 
I fully support the preservation of the wooded area but along with this must be the responsibility for 
the council and the owners of the wood to preserve people’s property and they lives can I ask who`s 
is going to ensure that all the trees which stand along the boundary are fit and healthy, also I feel the 
council and the owners have a duty of care to undertake maintenance and not let old and diseased 
trees fall in the peoples gardens. 
Please can you respond by email please. 
 
Regards 

 
 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Jayne.clarke@telford.gov.uk  

 

/TelfordWrekin 

/TelfordWrekin 

01952 383205 

Telford & Wrekin Council, Democratic Services, Governance & Legal Services, Addenbrooke House, Ironmasters Way, 
TF3 4NT  

 
 

 

 

Date:   8 February 2021                         Our Ref: TPO–189         Your Ref:  
 
 

 

Dear ,  
 
 
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 
THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (TREE PRESERVATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012  
BOROUGH OF TELFORD & WREKIN (WOODLAND TO THE REAR OF 39 ERCALL LANE, 
WELLINGTON, TELFORD, TF1 2DY) TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 2021 
 
 
Thank you for your email dated 30 January 2021.  Please find below a response from our Tree 
and Woodlands Officer. 
 
The safety of the trees within the woodland is the responsibility of the owner of the land on 
which they are growing, not the Local Authority.  The reasons for the Council imposing Tree 
Preservation Orders is to protect trees of amenity value for local communities.   
 
The owner has a ‘common law’ duty of care to take reasonable care to avoid acts or omissions 
which they can reasonably foresee would be likely to injure their neighbour.  The tree or 
woodland owner also has a duty under other legislation, as a private landowner, to take 
reasonable steps to ensure that their property (trees) are reasonably safe. Whether this be 
having the trees surveyed by a competent person or having a tree surgeon remove any 
foreseeable dead or dangerous trees this is the responsibility of the owner of the 
trees.  Although it is always advisable for owners of trees protected by a Tree Preservation 
Orders to obtain consent from the Council, there are exemptions to consent being required, 
such works as may be necessary for the prevention or abatement of a nuisance, however the 
works to be undertaken should be no more than to abate the nuisance.   
 
 

 
Continued . . . / 

 
  

Page 39



 
- 2  - 

 
 
 

To confirm, it is for the owners of the trees to make an application to undertake work within the 
woodland to the Council and as long as the works are regarded as good arboricultural practice 
or safety based then there would be no objections to this.  It is the owners responsibly to ensure 
that their property is reasonably safe not the Local Authority.   
 
 
Yours faithfully, 
 
 
 
 
Jayne Clarke 
Democratic and Scrutiny Officer  
 
 

Page 40



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS  

 

The Background Papers taken into account when considering planning applications 
on this list include all or some of the following items.  Items 1 to 4 are included on the 
file for each individual application. 
 
1. Application:  includes the application form, certificate under Section 65 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act, 1990, plans, and any further supporting 
information submitted with the application. 

 
2. Further correspondence with applicant: includes any amendments to the 

application – including any letters to the applicant/agent with respect to the 
application and any further correspondence submitted by the applicant/agent, 
together with any revised details and/or plans. 

 
3. Letters from Statutory Bodies:  includes any relevant letters to and from the 

Parish Councils, Departments of Telford & Wrekin Council, Water Authorities 
and other public bodies and societies.  

 
4. Letters from Private Individuals:  includes any relevant letters to and from 

members of the public with respect to the application, unless the writers have 
asked that their views are not reported publicly. 

 
5. Statutory Plans and Informal Policy Documents:  some or all of the following 

documents will comprise general background papers taken into account in 
considering planning applications in the administrative area of Telford and 
Wrekin (“Telford and Wrekin”) 

 
a)  Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted 11th January 2018) 

including any Neighbourhood Plans 
b)  Telford and Wrekin Supplementary Planning Documents:  

 Design for Community Safety SPD (adopted June 2008);  

 Telecommunications Development SPD (adopted May 2009); and  

 Shop Fronts, Signage and Design Guidance in Conservation Areas 
SPD (adopted April 2012) 

c) Government Planning Guidance – National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), Planning Practice Guidance and Circulars 

d) Town and Country Planning legislation, case law and other planning 
decisions and articles 

 
 
6. Past decision notices and reports referred to in specific reports. 
 
7. The following additional documents (if appropriate):-  

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

TWC/2010/0828 
Land at Ironstone, Lawley, Telford, Shropshire 
Variation of condition 16 of outline planning permission W2004/0980 to exclude the 
areas comprised within reserved matters application ref TWC/2010/0627 and within 
plots G4 and G5 as defined within the phasing plan drawing number 006 rev L from 
the effect of condition 16 (amended description)  
 
APPLICANT RECEIVED 
Lawley Village Developer Group 12/05/2021 
 
PARISH WARD 
Dawley Hamlets, Lawley and Overdale Horsehay and Lightmoor, Ketley and 

Overdale, Malinslee and Dawley Bank, 
Wrockwardine 

1.0 PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek a Deed of Variation (DoV) of the S106 

agreement, in so far as it relates to Phase 10 of the Lawley Sustainable Urban 
Extension (Planning Permission ref’s.: W2004/0980 and TWC/2010/0828), to 
remove an obligation to provide Affordable Housing as part of the approved 
development. 

 
1.2 The Applicants have provided a Viability Appraisal to demonstrate that 

bringing the site forward is not viable with an obligation to provide 25% 
Affordable Housing. The Applicant is therefore seeking Members approval to 
remove the obligation to provide Affordable Housing on Phase 10 of the site. 

 
1.3  Section 106A of the Town and Country Planning Act sets out the procedure 

for dealing with requests for modification and discharge of a Section 106 
agreement. Where a formal application is made and formal consultation takes 
place, The Council can refuse a request and there is a right of appeal in 
respect of a refusal. Where it no longer serves a planning purpose, the 
Council can agree to discharge the obligation(s). 

 
1.4 This application is supported by an Affordable Housing Viability Report which 

the developers have made available for public view [view Phase 10 Approach 
& Overview to Viability Assessment (Dec 2019) here]. 

 
1.5  Appendices to the Viability Assessment are available under the individual 

links as follows or collectively on the Council’s planning website for 
TWC/2010/0828: 

 
  -  Appendix A Phase 10 Planning Application Layout 
  -  Appendix B Accommodation Schedule & Net Selling Prices 
  -  Appendix C - BCIS Q2 2020 Shropshire 

-  Appendix D - Residual Land Value Assessment with 12% 
Affordable Housing  

- Appendix E - Residual Land Value Assessment with 0% 
Affordable Housing 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7a

https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-documents-documents-public.aspx?ApplicationNumber=TWC/2010/0828
https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-documents-documents-public.aspx?ApplicationNumber=TWC/2010/0828
https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-documents-documents-public.aspx?ApplicationNumber=TWC/2010/0828
file://///btw.gov.uk/homes/katy.craddock$/Appendix%20A%20-%20Approved%20Planning%20Layout.pdf
file://///btw.gov.uk/homes/katy.craddock$/Appendix%20B%20-%20Accommodation%20Schedule%20&%20Market%20Values.pdf
file://///btw.gov.uk/homes/katy.craddock$/Appendix%20C%20-%20BCIS%20Q2%202020%20Shropshire.pdf
file://///btw.gov.uk/homes/katy.craddock$/Appendix%20D%20-%20Residual%20Land%20Value%20Assessment%20-%20Agreed%2012%25%20Affordable.pdf
file://///btw.gov.uk/homes/katy.craddock$/Appendix%20D%20-%20Residual%20Land%20Value%20Assessment%20-%20Agreed%2012%25%20Affordable.pdf
file://///btw.gov.uk/homes/katy.craddock$/Appendix%20E%20-%20Residual%20Land%20Value%20Assessment%20-%20Nil%20Affordable.pdf
file://///btw.gov.uk/homes/katy.craddock$/Appendix%20E%20-%20Residual%20Land%20Value%20Assessment%20-%20Nil%20Affordable.pdf


 

 

 

2.0 PLANNING HISTORY 
 
2.1 Outline Planning Permission ref. W2004/0980 was Granted on 21 October 

2005 for ‘residential development comprising 3,300 dwellings, 
employment/mixed-use commercial/leisure development, erection of a 
primary school and community centre, infrastructure works and associated 
recreational space and landscaping’ on land at Lawley, Telford. 

 
2.2 Section 73 application TWC/2010/0828 was submitted to ‘vary Condition 16 of 

Outline Planning Permission W2004/0980 to exclude the areas comprised 
within reserved matters application ref TWC/2010/0627 and within plots G4 
and G5 as defined within the phasing plan drawing number 006 rev L’ from 
the effect of Condition 16 and was Granted on 13 December 2013. 

 
2.3 The S106 Agreement, entered into by English Partnerships on 21 October 

2005 (following Granting of the original Outline Planning Permission) secured 
the obligation of the developer to provide 25% of the dwellings as Affordable 
Housing. 

 
2.4 Lawley Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) is being delivered by a developer 

consortium, who have brought the SUE forward on a phase by phase basis. 
Since the economic downturn the developers have sought to reduce the 
amount of Affordable Housing on various Phases as they have been brought 
forward for reserved matters consent. This has resulted in previous variations 
to the 2005 S106 Agreement to allow reduced Affordable Housing 
contributions of 15% on Phase 7 and 8, 12.5% on Phases 5 and 9, and most 
recently 10% on Phase 11. Phase 11 specifically comprised discounted open 
market housing as opposed to the general needs Affordable Housing being 
provided on other phases. 

 

2.5 Phase 10 was the subject of a Reserved Matters planning application which 
was approved on 23 March 2019, ref.: TWC/2018/0732. 

 
3.0  PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1  National Guidance: 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
3.2 Telford & Wrekin Local Plan (2011-2031) 
 

HO5 Affordable Housing Thresholds and Percentages 
HO6 Delivery of Affordable Housing 

 
4.0  SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
4.1 Viability evidence has been presented based on the market value of the land 

today which proves the development is unviable. Indeed the appraisal without 
any Affordable Housing still does not provide the appropriate return to the 
developer in terms of the NPPF requirements. 

Page 44



 

 

 

 
4.5 The Variation, if approved, provides the opportunity for the developer to seek 

Grant Funding for on-site Affordable Housing delivery. This may enable the 
developer to provide Affordable Housing on Phase 10 but this outcome is not 
guaranteed and, when considering this application to vary the planning 
obligation, members should not assume that grant funding will be available or 
that on-site Affordable Housing will be provided as a result. 

 
4.6 The Council has had the Viability Appraisal independently assessed by an 

external consultant, who agrees with the detailed viability information provided 
and supports the Applicant’s position. 

 
4.7 Housing Officer: The offer of 10% Affordable Housing is welcome in principle 

noting that this is subject to the agreement of Grant Funding by Homes 
England. 

 
Notes that it would be reasonable to take account of the recent revised 
Affordable Housing scheme for Lawley Phase 11 (all 2-bed houses). The 
revised 10% Affordable Housing scheme represents a reduction of four 
Affordable Homes (from 23 to 19). 

 
Suggest that all of the Affordable Homes should be Affordable Rent. 
Comment that all Affordable Homes in Phase 11 are 2-bed, Notes that the 
four affordable dwellings to be lost should be 2-bed as opposed to 3-bed. 

 
4.8 Neighbour Consultation 
 

None received 
 
5.0  BACKGROUND 
 
5.1 The Applicant has advised that as a result of the property market downturn 

from 2008 onwards. As a consequence, all earlier phases of the scheme have 
been compromised and are unable to deliver the 25% Affordable Housing 
obligation required in the October 2005 S106 Agreement. Previous viability 
submissions have been made by the consortium and reviewed by Officers at 
the Council. They have typically resulted in a negotiated position, accepting 
that Phases were unviable but a compromise agreed with the developers 
accepting a lower commercial return (16% profit is allowed for in the land 
purchase/development agreement) but with the Council accepting circa 12-
15% Affordable Housing in return. They are now seeking the support of the 
Council in making concessions in terms of Affordable Housing provision, to 
0%, in order to allow the development to proceed. 

 
5.2 Subsequent to the Reserved Matters Approval of Phase 10 and with the 

benefit of further detailed site constraint analysis and due diligence, additional 
abnormal development costs were identified affecting Phase 10. These 
additional abnormal costs related to: 

 
- Ground stabilisation, preparation and remediation; 

Page 45



 

 

 

- Depth of foundation costs; 

- Height and retaining structures; 

- Build duration extended due to delays in constructing large retaining 

walls. 

 
The Applicant advises that, overall, these costs are in excess of £650,000 
more than anticipated at the time of the reserved matters application. As a 
consequence, the even lower anticipated profit at 12% Affordable Housing 
could no longer be sustained. 

 
5.3 The Developers and Wrekin Housing Trust (WHT) are in continued dialogue, 

noting that an indicative offer has been made on the mix proposed for 19 
affordable dwellings (10% of total dwellings). It should be noted that this is 
subject to further consideration by WHT and is predicated on WHT’s ability to 
access Grant Funding, which in turn is predicated on the LPA accepting that 
fundamentally Phase 10 cannot support the delivery of any Affordable 
Housing as a S106 planning obligation. Therefore the Applicants are 
requesting the Council approve a Deed of Variation confirming that 0% S106 
Affordable Housing will be delivered on Phase 10 and then via a new side 
agreement with WHT, the Applicants intend to provide 10% of the units as 
Affordable using Grant Funding. 

 
5.4 The Applicant advises the mix of the units would be fully NDSS compliant as 

already plotted on the Reserved Matters approved layout, and therefore Grant 
Funding compliant, on the basis of the following mix: 

 
2 beds (House Type AA22) - Plots 18-20, 21-23, 95-98, 118-121 - 14 Units  
2 bed FOG (House Type PT22) - Plot 122 - 1 Unit 
3 bed (House Type AA31) - Plots 123-126 - 4 Units 
 
Total - 19 Units 

 
5.5 The Applicant advises that Wrekin Housing Trust have confirmed their desire 

to acquire these units should the Council resolve to approve the proposed 
Deed of Variation to confirm the proposal as set out. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
6.1 Having regard to the Development Plan policy and other material 

considerations including comments received during the consultation process, 
the planning application raises the following main issue: 

 
- Policy Guidance 
- Consideration of Viability Position 
- Other Considerations 

 
6.2 Policy Guidance  
 
6.2.1 The NPPF confirms that pursuing sustainable development requires careful 

attention to viability and costs in plan-making and decision taking. Para. 57 of 

Page 46



 

 

 

the NPPF states ‘where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions 
expected from development, planning applications that comply with them 
should be assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate 
whether particular circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at 
the application stage. The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a 
matter for the decision maker, having regard to all the circumstances in the 
case, including whether the plan and the viability evidence underpinning it is 
up to date, and any change in site circumstances since the plan was brought 
into force. All viability assessments, including any undertaken at the plan-
making stage, should reflect the recommended approach in national planning 
guidance, including standardised inputs, and should be made publicly 
available.’ 

 
6.2.2 Para. 64 of the NPPF states ‘where major development involving the provision 

of housing is proposed, planning policies and decisions should expect at least 
10% of the homes to be available for affordable home ownership, unless this 
would exceed the level of affordable housing required in the area, or 
significantly prejudice the ability to meet the identified Affordable Housing 
needs of specific groups.’ 

 
6.2.3 The Lawley developer consortium are actively developing housing in Lawley 

thus demonstrating their willingness to deliver housing within the area and 
upon this site. Evidence to support this claim has been presented in a Viability 
Appraisal which is considered below. 

 
6.3 Consideration of Viability  
 
6.3.1 In support of the application, a Viability Appraisal has been carried out by 

Bridgehouse Property Consultants on behalf of the Lawley developer 
consortium which has been independently assessed by Turley acting on 
behalf of the Council. 

 
6.3.2 The Viability Appraisal (VA) concludes that when the Phase 10 development 

is assessed on the basis of policy compliant Affordable Housing provision, 
with values equating to 62% of market value in line with an overarching 
agreement negotiated with the Wrekin Housing Trust, the scheme generates 
a viability deficit of £1,033,869 when the Residual Land Value (RLV) of 
£316,131 is compared with the Benchmark Land Value (BLV) of £1,350,000. 

 
6.3.3 When assessed on a 100% market sale basis, the VA states that the viability 

deficit reduces to £447,313 with the appraisal attached at VA Appendix E, 
generating an RLV of £902,687 in comparison to the BLV, which remains at 
£1,350,000. 

 
6.3.4 Therefore, following review of and minor amendments to the Viability 

Appraisal assumptions as deemed necessary, Turley conclude that the 
provision of Affordable Housing within the Proposed Development is not 
viable, in agreement with the applicants. It is Turley’s recommendation to the 
Council that provision of 0% Affordable Housing within the proposed 
development of the Phase 10 site is accepted. 

Page 47



 

 

 

 
6.4 Other Considerations 
 
6.4.1 As mentioned above, the Applicants point out that approval of this Deed of 

Variation application would provide an opportunity for the developer to seek 
Grant Funding for Affordable Housing delivery through Homes England. Such 
Grant Funding is not available to schemes where Affordable Housing is 
required by a S106 Agreement. However, when considering this application to 
vary the planning obligation, members should not assume that Grant Funding 
will be available or that on-site Affordable Housing will be provided as a result. 

 
7.0  CONCLUSION  
 
7.1 Taking the above factors into consideration, officers accept the Applicants 

justification that the S106 as approved is now unviable with respect to Phase 
10 and needs to be reconsidered for the applicant as a willing developer to 
bring the site forward. There are no other obligations to renegotiate and as 
such, the only option is to consider the omission of the Affordable Housing 
requirement. The applicant has demonstrated that even with no Affordable 
Housing provision, the scheme is still unviable, however, the reduced level of 
unviability would still allow the scheme to be brought forward. 

 
7.2 Given the above, officers consider that the benefits in terms of allowing the 

site to come forward will significantly and demonstrably outweigh the harm 
brought about by lack of Affordable Housing provision and as such, it is 
recommended that the application to vary the S106 Agreement in respect of 
Phase 10 is approved. 

 
8.0  RECOMMENDATION  
 
8.1   That the Deed of Variation to the Section 106 Agreement be approved. 
 
 

Page 48



Gas Gov

Sub Sta
El

Poyner

12

1
2

1

Bra
m

ble

22

11(Sch)

5

Primary Academy

Hunters

1

2

16

1 to 61

Huntington

2

11

Court

31

15

5

Court

1

2

Rise

20

7

1
2

Surgery

17

21

1
4

Lawley Bank Court

1

7

1
2

8

10

9

7

1

6

3

2
7

2

5

15

24

2

Rise

24

7

Sta

39

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

19

Oakville

1
8

El

Sub

1

4

Gryffindor

Ashfield

10

32

1

ESS

1
8

19

1
9

3

8

4

1

9

11

29

Holly

Cot
ta

ge

3

9

Lawley Village 6

Court

12

6

8

5

1

Cadman

1

House

7

14

El Sub Sta

12

21

1
2

33

8

7

1
5

26

2
0

23

35

3

Day Nursery

35

1
8

4
1

1

1
1

32

2

2
5

Lawley Village

2

1
5

1
1

1
5

1
1E

l 
S

u
b
 S

ta

1

1

7
3

12

House

62

Manderley
9

11

7
2

13

Laburnum

5
8

Corner

34

2

24

Chimneys

22

1
1

6
1

7

Alicia

1
1

20

42

Keron

8

1

Ellendale

37

7

Four

3

Fair View

2

46

2

17

14

G
le

n
h
o
lm

e

Crosswinds

22

House

Lodge

32

3
0

24

54

15

1
1

7

10

7
9

4

40

6

25

Holmlea

13

2

Beechwood

4

18

1

69

Wrekin View

1
5

7
0

House

59

9

2

3
7

11

Simmonds

11

29

24

1
1
a

1

66

2
4

1

16

47

1

8

38

1
5

6

Bungalow

2

33

23

29

30

2
1

West Highland

Louvane

55

3

36

67

5

Handsworth

14

Winds

Close

Tyndale

The Firs

1
2

29

3
4

34

4

7

Orchard House

39

31

21

19

1

15

Lawley Bank

Lawley

Bank

Dawley Bank

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2016. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

W
A
Y

M
A

R
T

IN
G

A
L
E

HORSESHOE

B
A

R
R

A
C

K
 C

L
O

S
E

STABLE
YARD C

O
URT

ELLENDER RISE

PADDO
CK

DRIVE

FARRIERS GREEN

ROAD

STATIO
N

HUNTINGTON

HOBBINS LANE

B 5072

DAVENHAM WALK

NELSONS WALK

IS
IA

H
 A

V
E

N
U

E

PRINCES END

ST HELIER DRIVE

PRINCES END

P
R

IN
C

E
S

 E
N

D

H
IG

H
 V

IE
W

PLANT CLOSE

STATION ROAD

AVONDALE

B 5072

TEAWELL CLOSE

CP

Ward Bdy

B
o
ro

 C
o
n
st B

d
y

CR

D
ef

W
ard Bdy

Def

C
o
 C

o
n
st B

d
y

W
a
rd

 B
d
y

W
ard Bdy

CR

D
rain

Posts

Ps

P
o
s
ts

Posts

Posts

P
o
s
ts

Posts

Posts

Posts

C
ycle

 P
ath

C
y
c
le

 P
a

th

Cycle Path

176.8m

163.4m

203.0m

183.8m

197.5m

200.9m

200.6m

Sub

GG

El

Sta

ESS

LB

Gas Gov

Sub Sta
El

Poyner

12

1
2

1

Bra
m

ble

22

11(Sch)

5

Primary Academy

Hunters

1

2

16

1 to 61

Huntington

2

11

Court

31

15

5

Court

1

2

Rise

20

7

1
2

Surgery

17

21

1
4

Lawley Bank Court

1

7

1
2

8

10

9

7

1

6

3

2
7

2

5

15

24

2

Rise

24

7

Sta

39

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

19

Oakville

1
8

El

Sub

1

4

Gryffindor

Ashfield

10

32

1

ESS

1
8

19

1
9

3

8

4

1

9

11

29

Holly

Cot
ta

ge

3

9

Lawley Village 6

Court

12

6

8

5

1

Cadman

1

House

7

14

El Sub Sta

12

21

1
2

33

8

7

1
5

26

2
0

23

35

3

Day Nursery

35

1
8

4
1

1

1
1

32

2

2
5

Lawley Village

2

1
5

1
1

1
5

1
1E

l 
S

u
b
 S

ta

1

1

7
3

12

House

62

Manderley
9

11

7
2

13

Laburnum

5
8

Corner

34

2

24

Chimneys

22

1
1

6
1

7

Alicia

1
1

20

42

Keron

8

1

Ellendale

37

7

Four

3

Fair View

2

46

2

17

14

G
le

n
h
o
lm

e

Crosswinds

22

House

Lodge

32

3
0

24

54

15

1
1

7

10

7
9

4

40

6

25

Holmlea

13

2

Beechwood

4

18

1

69

Wrekin View

1
5

7
0

House

59

9

2

3
7

11

Simmonds

11

29

24

1
1
a

1

66

2
4

1

16

47

1

8

38

1
5

6

Bungalow

2

33

23

29

30

2
1

West Highland

Louvane

55

3

36

67

5

Handsworth

14

Winds

Close

Tyndale

The Firs

1
2

29

3
4

34

4

7

Orchard House

39

31

21

19

1

15

Lawley Bank

Lawley

Bank

Dawley Bank

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2016. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

W
A
Y

M
A

R
T

IN
G

A
L
E

HORSESHOE

B
A

R
R

A
C

K
 C

L
O

S
E

STABLE
YARD C

O
URT

ELLENDER RISE

PADDO
CK

DRIVE

FARRIERS GREEN

ROAD

STATIO
N

HUNTINGTON

HOBBINS LANE

B 5072

DAVENHAM WALK

NELSONS WALK

IS
IA

H
 A

V
E

N
U

E

PRINCES END

ST HELIER DRIVE

PRINCES END

P
R

IN
C

E
S

 E
N

D

H
IG

H
 V

IE
W

PLANT CLOSE

STATION ROAD

AVONDALE

B 5072

TEAWELL CLOSE

CP

Ward Bdy

B
o
ro

 C
o
n
st B

d
y

CR

D
ef

W
ard Bdy

Def

C
o
 C

o
n
st B

d
y

W
a
rd

 B
d
y

W
ard Bdy

CR

D
rain

Posts

Ps

P
o
s
ts

Posts

Posts

P
o
s
ts

Posts

Posts

Posts

C
ycle

 P
ath

C
y
c
le

 P
a

th

Cycle Path

176.8m

163.4m

203.0m

183.8m

197.5m

200.9m

200.6m

Sub

GG

El

Sta

ESS

LB

N

Status

Rev Revision Details Dr Date

Job No

Drawn

Scale

Drawing Title

Client's Name

Job Title

Date

Rev

Checked

Drawing No

Notes:

© Origin3 Studio Ltd

THIS DRAWING IS NOT TO BE SCALED. EXCEPT FOR THE 

PURPOSES OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND FOR LEGAL 

PLANS WHERE THE SCALE BAR MUST BE USED. ALWAYS 
REFER TO FIGURED DIMENSIONS. 

CONTRACTORS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS 
MUST VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE BEFORE 
COMMENCING ANY WORK OR MAKING ANY SHOP 
DRAWINGS.

THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH 
STRUCTURAL, MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL ENGINEERS 
DRAWINGS AND ALL DISCREPANCIES ARE TO BE 
REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT.

8 - 10 Whiteladies Road
Bristol
BS8 1PD

www.origin3studio.co.uk
mail@origin3studio.co.uk

metres 20 40 80 12060 100

1 : 1250 @ A1

1
1

/0
2

/2
0

1
9

 1
4

:1
4

:4
6

G

C:\Users\jamesprior\Documents\My Local BIM\3177_O3S_XX_XX_M3_AR_LawleyPhase10_Site_CENTRAL_jamesHTYHU.rvt

Site Location Plan

3177

Lawley Phase 10

Ironstone Development Group

JP DR

L(00)002

Stage 2 - Concept Design

A Tree survey added. JP 07.06.18

B Tree survey removed from
sheet.

JP 21.08.18

C North arrows added. JP 22.08.18

D Updated to surrounding
context OS data.

JP 31.08.18

E Boundary amended. JP 04.09.18

F Red line amended. JP 08.02.19

G Red line amended. JP 11.02.19

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



19no. AFFORDABLE RENT

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



\

\

1. ftis drowing is to be .eod in conjuncrion *t. or
r€l.vonl sch€ms drowinqs ond 3Decificotions.

3. Dis drowing is not to be ..prcduced in ony pod
or fom without cons.nt.dl copydqht r€otued.

w

tlMPage 53



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

TWC/2020/1068  
Site of 26 Hillside Road, Ketley Bank, Telford, Shropshire 
Outline application for 1no. dwelling including associated access, landscaping, layout and 
scale with appearance reserved *****amended plan received*****  

 
APPLICANT RECEIVED 
 08/12/2020 
 
PARISH WARD 
Oakengates Oakengates and Ketley Bank 
 
THIS APPLICATION HAS BEEN REFERRED TO PLANNING COMMITTEE BY CLLR. 

STEPHEN REYNOLDS 

 

Online Planning File: 

https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-

applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2020/1068 

 

1.0 SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION 

 

1.1  It is recommended that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted to the 

Development Management Service Delivery Manager to GRANT OUTLINE 

PLANNING PERMISSION subject to Condition(s) and Informative(s). 

 

2.0 SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 

 

2.1 The application site is located on Hillside Road within Ketley Bank within 

Central Telford. The application site is currently part of the garden for No. 26 

Hillside Road and is bordered with mature hedging. There are historic remains 

of an air raid shelter situated on the north-eastern part of the site which are 

recorded on the Shropshire Historic Environment Record. 

 

3.0 APPLICATION DETAILS 

 

3.1 This is an Outline planning application for the erection of 1no. dwelling on the 
site of No. 26 Hillside Road. The application is Outline with some Matters 
Reserved; landscaping and access are for consideration as part of this 
application, with scale, layout and appearance reserved for approval at a later 
date. 

 
3.2 The access would be directly off Hillside Road, and parking would be provided 

for 3 vehicles, with the inclusion of a turning area. The proposal would provide 
separate garden areas for both the proposed dwelling and the host dwelling, 
No. 26 Hillside Road. 

  
3.3 The application has been subject to an Amended Plan and subsequent re-

consultation. The amendments consist of removal of the garage and changes 
to the parking area to address concerns raised by the Highways Officer. 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7b

https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2020/1068
https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2020/1068


 

 

 

4.0 RELEVANT HISTORY 

 

4.1  No relevant history 

 

5.0 RELEVANT POLICY DOCUMENTS  

 

5.1  National Guidance:  

 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 

5.2  Local Development Plan: 

 

Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031: 

 

SP1 Telford 

SP4 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

C3 Impact of the Development on Highways 

NE1 Biodiversity & Geodiversity 

NE2 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodlands 

BE1 Design Criteria 

ER11 Flood Risk Management 

ER12 Sewerage Systems and Water Quality 

 

6.0  SUMMARY OF STATUTORY CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

 
6.1 Cllr. Stephen Reynolds: Object: 
 

- Concern regarding the highway network of narrow roads surrounding 

the site; 

- Note that there is restricted space for service vehicles which is already 

an issue (fire/ambulance/refuse) and a new dwelling will worsen the 

situation; 

- The presence of remains of an air raid shelter on site which should be 

protected as part of the application; 

- Formally request determination at Planning Committee. 

 

6.2 Ecology: Support subject to Condition(s) in respect of (i) nesting and 

roosting boxes; and (ii) Informative in respect of nesting wild birds. 

 

6.3 Highways: Support subject to Condition(s) in respect of (i) layout and 

drainage of parking/turning areas; (ii) access drive surfacing being bound; and 

(iii) requirement for a s.184. 

 

Page 56



 

 

 

6.4 Drainage: Support subject to Condition in respect of scheme of both foul 

and surface water should be submitted and approved in writing prior to the 

commencement of the development. 

 

6.5 Arboriculture: Support subject to Condition(s) in respect of (i) the 

landscape development plan compliance; and (ii) size of the trees to be 

planted at Reserved Matters stage alongside the need for root barrier 

adjacent to driveway. 

 

6.6 The Coal Authority: No objection subject to Condition(s) in respect of (i) 

scheme of intrusive site investigations have been carried out on site; and (ii) a 

signed statement being submitted by a suitably competent person confirming 

that the site has been made safe. 

 

6.7 Shropshire Fire: Comment: Propose Fire Safety Informative. 

 

6.8 Shropshire Council Archaeology: Comment: The development site contains 

remains of an air raid shelter dating back to WW2 and the proposal shall be 

located to ensure no damage is caused to the shelter. Propose a Condition 

requiring a programme of archaeological works. 

 

7.0 PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS 

 

7.1 Nine neighbouring properties have been formally consulted on the proposal 

and seven letters have been received. The contents of all comments are 

available in full on the planning file, summarised as follows: 

 

- concern regarding the narrow lane and increase in traffic; 

- lack of parking; 

- inadequate drainage and blocked sewers within the area; 

- loss of the historic air raid shelter on site; 

- overdevelopment of the site and backland development; 

- loss of hedgerow and biodiversity; 

- impact of construction vehicles and disruption; 

- finished levels of the site would impact in terms of loss of privacy; 

- damage to private property. 

 

8.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

 

8.1 Having regard to the Development Plan and other material considerations 

including comments received during the consultation process, the planning 

application raises the following main issues: 

 

  -  Principle of Development 

Page 57



 

 

 

  - Layout, Scale and Design 

  - Highways, Access and Parking 

  - Neighbouring Amenity 

- Other Matters  

 

8.2 Principle of Development 

 

8.2.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Act (2004) states that 

applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with 

the Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

8.2.2 The proposal is to erect 1no. detached dwelling on the current garden land of 

No. 26 Hillside Road, Ketley Bank. The area is an established residential area 

and is located within the built up area of the borough as shown within the 

Telford & Wrekin Local Plan Policies Map where the principle of residential 

development is acceptable. To be supported, sites would need to be suitably 

sized, appropriately located, and accessed safely in addition to satisfying 

other relevant Local Plan Policies. Any development will also need to ensure 

that there is no significant adverse impact on the amenities of adjacent 

residents and land users. 

 

8.2.3 The site is considered to be in a sustainable location, close to shops, schools 

and services in Ketley and is in accordance with Policy SP4 of the Telford & 

Wrekin Local Plan. The principle of development is therefore considered to be 

acceptable. 

 
8.3 Layout, Scale and Design 
 
8.3.1 The scheme proposes 1no. dwelling to be sited on the existing garden land of 

No. 26 Hillside Road. The scheme put forward is Outline with landscaping and 

access included, and layout, scale and appearance reserved for later 

approval.   

 
8.3.2 Ketley Bank has a mixture of property types and designs, predominantly 

consisting of detached dwellings and bungalows, a number of traditional 

properties and some more modern additions. There is no defined building line 

due to the historic layout of the area, and the area has a semi-rural character 

despite its location within the central area of Telford. 

 

8.3.3 The submitted Amended Plan notes the footprint of the property being modest 

in scale and sits comfortably within the plot. Shropshire Council Archaeology 

note concern regarding the historic remains of an air raid shelter which are 

located on the north-eastern side of the site. Whilst the LPA are confident that 

a scheme could be achieved where the air raid shelter remains protected, this 

Page 58



 

 

 

would need to be finalised at Reserved Matters stage. The protection of the 

air raid shelter remains may impact upon the developable area and may result 

in the indicatively shown dwelling needing to be reduced in scale, and the 

layout amended to take account of its preservation. Shropshire Council 

Archaeology have requested a Condition be included to request an 

Archaeological Survey be carried out prior to the commencement of 

development to uncover the extent of the remains. Whilst the LPA are seeking 

protection of the remains, Shropshire Council Archaeology have not objected 

to its removal if it cannot be accommodated within the site provided that the 

programme of works is carried out prior to works commencing. 

 

8.3.4 As the appearance of the dwelling has been reserved for later consideration, 

only limited comment can be provided at this stage. It is considered that a 

two-storey dwelling in this location would not be acceptable as it could cause 

impacts of overlooking and loss of privacy to neighbouring properties, and 

would be overbearing and an incongruous feature on a prominent corner. 

 

8.3.5 As a result, the LPA consider only a bungalow could be supported in this 

location and would expect plans for a bungalow to come forward at Reserved 

Matters stage. The Applicant’s Agent considers a dormer bungalow would be 

most appropriate for this site however the LPA consider that it would be for 

the Applicant to demonstrate how the relationship would work, and to 

overcome the harm identified before support could be offered to a dormer 

bungalow. The LPA are confident that a suitable property can be brought 

forward at Reserved Matters stage which would enhance the built 

environment and respect the setting of the site. 

 
8.3.6 Another element for consideration within this application is landscaping. A 

plan has been submitted to show how appropriate landscaping for the scheme 

would be achieved. The LPA had particular concern regarding the relationship 

of the proposed dwelling with the host dwelling, No. 26 Hillside Road, and 

concerns about how private amenity space could be achieved for the 

proposed dwelling. As there would be 12 metres from the rear of No. 26 to the 

proposed boundary, the LPA are confident that suitable separation distances 

can be achieved, and landscaping can be provided to ensure the amenity 

space proposed is private. 

 

8.3.7 The east elevation of the plot, facing Hillside Road currently has a mature 

hedgerow as the boundary treatment which the LPA advised must be retained 

as it contributes to the character of the area. The Applicant has shown the 

hedgerow to be retained except for one section which will need to be removed 

to provide the proposed access. A new hedgerow and trees will also be 

planted in between No. 26 and the proposed dwelling to form a new 

boundary, however this is currently shown to be outside of the redline 

Page 59



 

 

 

boundary of the site. As a result a landscaping condition will be required to 

secure the final landscaping details within the site boundary and can be 

submitted at a later stage. The LPA would expect to see a similar natural 

boundary to those shown on the plans, provided within the application site. 

 

8.3.8 With regard to the remaining boundary treatments, to the north and west of 

the site there is an existing boundary wall, bordering the property Greystone 

Garth at the rear of the site. The plans propose to increase the height of the 

boundary wall to create more privacy, and for new trees to be planted on the 

north boundary. Details of the height have not yet been confirmed, and would 

be required to be submitted as part of the landscaping Condition. There are 

mature conifers on the western boundary, owned by Greystone Garth which 

would provide privacy between the properties. The landscaping is therefore 

considered to be appropriate and would respect and respond positively to the 

context of the site. 

 

8.3.9 On balance, it is considered that appropriate landscaping can be achieved, 

and would ensure the semi-rural character of the area is retained. The LPA 

are confident that a suitable property can be brought forward at Reserved 

Matters stage where the scale, layout and appearance of the dwelling will be 

assessed, taking into account the historic remains on site. The scheme is 

considered to be compliant with Policy BE1 of the TWLP.  

 
8.4 Highways, Access and Parking 
 

8.4.1 The development would be situated off Hillside Road adjacent to other 

residential driveways. The Council’s Highways Officer has raised no objection 

to the proposed access subject to the inclusion of appropriate Conditions. The 

Highways Officer did initially raise concern as the original plan showed a 

garage on site and limited room for vehicles to manoeuvre, however following 

submission of the Amended Plan which removed the garage and created a 

turning area, they have raised no objection. 

 

8.4.2 The proposal is considered to have sufficient parking to support a three 

bedroomed property within the suburban area as outlined in the Telford and 

Wrekin Local Plan Parking Standards, which requires 2.3 spaces for a 3 bed, 

and is therefore considered to be acceptable. 

 

8.4.3 It is noted that a number of concerns from neighbouring properties and the 

Town Council have been raised in respect of parking, access and general 

highway safety along Hillside Road. As discussed, suitable parking and 

turning areas can be provided on site to ensure vehicles can leave the site in 

forward gear and the overall addition of 1no. dwelling in this location would 

not result in a significant increase in traffic movements. The cumulative impact 

Page 60



 

 

 

of 1no. additional dwelling in this area would therefore not have a significant 

detrimental impact upon highway safety along Hillside Road. 

 

8.4.4 Concerns have also been raised regarding construction traffic, and the LPA 

would be requesting a Site Environmental Management Plan Condition to 

ensure parking and storage of materials for the development are sited 

appropriately. 

 

8.4.5 As appropriate parking and access arrangements have been demonstrated, it 

is considered the proposal would comply with Policy C3 of the Telford & 

Wrekin Local Plan. 

 
8.5 Neighbouring Amenity 
 

8.5.1 Telford & Wrekin Plan Policy BE1 states that new developments should not 

prejudice existing surrounding uses. 

 

8.5.2 Whilst the LPA were initially concerned that having a two-storey dwelling on 

the site may impact some neighbours in terms of overlooking and loss of 

privacy, Officers are confident a bungalow would not harm the amenity of 

neighbouring properties. The Applicant’s Agent has stated that they consider 

a dormer bungalow to be appropriate for the site, and it would be for the 

Applicant to demonstrate at Reserved Matters stage if this could be achieved 

without causing harm to neighbouring residential amenity. 

 

8.5.3 In terms of the relationship between No. 26 Hillside Road and the proposed 

dwelling, 12 metres can be provided from the rear of No 26 to the boundary of 

the proposed site, and based on the indicative plan provided, a distance of 20 

metres could be achieved from the rear wall of No. 26 to the side wall of the 

proposed dwelling. The LPA therefore consider adequate separation 

distances can be achieved to ensure loss of privacy would not occur between 

the properties. 

 

8.5.4 The LPA are therefore confident that a suitable scheme can be achieved at 

Reserved Matters stage which would not cause any significant detrimental 

impacts upon neighbouring properties. 

 

8.6  Other Matters  

 

8.6.1 With regard to the drainage of the site and blocked sewers within the vicinity, 

the Council’s Drainage Team have assessed the proposal and consider that 

the site is not within an area of identified flood risk and therefore the site can 

be sufficiently drained. A Condition has been requested for a full scheme of 

both foul and surface water are submitted to the LPA prior to development 

Page 61



 

 

 

commencing to ensure that the Applicant can demonstrate how the site will be 

drained in detail. 

 

8.6.2 In respect of the comments regarding the overdevelopment of the site and the 

site being a form of backland development, the layout and scale of the 

proposal are reserved for Reserved Matters stage with only an indicative plan 

being provided at this stage. Based on the indicative plan, the LPA consider 

the scheme would not constitute backland development as it would have a 

positive relationship with the streetscene and the scale of the proposal put 

forward appears to sit comfortably within the plot. 

 

8.6.3 Overall it is considered the concerns raised have been satisfactorily 

addressed, or are matters requiring consideration at the Reserved Matters 

stage. 

 

9.0  CONCLUSIONS 

 

9.1 On balance, the proposal to erect 1no. dwelling is considered to be 

acceptable. The site is in a sustainable location and it has been demonstrated 

that the site can be adequately accessed and appropriate parking provision is 

available. The scale, design and layout of the scheme would be assessed at 

Reserved Matters stage and the LPA is confident a suitable scheme can be 

brought forward. The proposal is considered to comply with policies of the 

Telford & Wrekin Local Plan and is in accordance with national policies 

contained within the NPPF. 

 

10.0  RECOMMENDATION  

 

10.1 Based on the conclusions above, the recommendation to the Planning 

Committee on this application is that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted 

to the Development Management Service Delivery Manager to GRANT 

OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following Condition(s): 

 

A01 Outline Time Limit 
A02 Reserved Matters Time Limit 
A03 Submission of Reserved Matters  
B002 Standard Outline – Some Matters Reserved 
B003 General Details Required 
B010 Details of Materials 
B059 Intrusive Site Investigations  
B059 Mining Works Declaration Statement  
B061 Foul & Surface Water 
B0119 Archaeological Works Report  
B121 Landscape Design (including the size of the trees to be planted, 

site levels and boundary treatments bordering 26 Hillside Road).  

Page 62



 

 

 

B150 Site Environmental Management Plan  
C013 Parking, loading, unloading, turning 
C020 Access Drive Bound Material  
C040 No Approval of Layout  
C073 Tree & Hedge Protection  
C38 Works in Accordance with Approved Plans 
C109 Erection of Artificial Nesting/Roosting Boxes  
D01 Removal of all Permitted Development 

 
Informative(s): 

 
I11 Section 184 License 
I17a Coal Authority High Risk Area Informative 
I25m Nesting Wild Birds 
I32 Fire Authority 

 
 
 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Trevden

H

i

l

l

c

r

e

s

t

Armena

M

o

u

n

t

4

173.7m

T

h

e

5

E

a

s

t

v

i

e

w

1

K

i
l
d

a

r
e

1

1

8

LB

Braemar

Berwyn Villa

Ridgeway

House

Firs

The

2

Grandview

E

A

S

T

 

R

O

A

D

H

I
L

L

S

I
D

E

 
R

O

A

D

2

9

W

e
n
d
e
n
e

2

1

Rosredna

Greystone Garth

Walnut Cottage

2

6

1

6

1

0

Inglewell

M

O

U

N

T

1

5

P

L

E

A

S

A

N

T

7

F

a

i
r

 
V

i
e

w

Carmel

1

Clifton

P
l
e
a
s
a
n
t

Cottage

V
i
e
w

3
6
9
4
2
5

3
6
9
4
2
5

3
6
9
4
5
0

3
6
9
4
5
0

3
6
9
4
7
5

3
6
9
4
7
5

3
6
9
5
0
0

3
6
9
5
0
0

3
6
9
5
2
5

3
6
9
5
2
5

310200 310200

310225 310225

310250 310250

310275 310275

310300 310300

310325 310325

310350 310350

metres

0 10 20

3
6
9
4
0
9

310178

3
6
9
4
0
9

310375

3
6
9
5
4
3

310375

3
6
9
5
4
3

310178

SJ6910 SJ6910

SJ6910SJ6910

© Crown copyright 2020 Ordnance Survey 100053143

HR-00120.06.2020

Land adjacent to No26 Hillside

Road, Ketley Bank, Telford.

Location Plan

1:1250 Planning

N.P

.

Page 65

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING TITLE : 

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
REV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
CONTRACT : 

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
DRAWING No.

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
SCALE A4

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
REV

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
DRAWING ISSUE STATUS



This page is intentionally left blank



2

Rosredna

26

Inglewell

Rear Garden

Patio

Garden

Existing 

Boundary Wall

Existing 

Hedge

Proposed 

Pedestrian Access

Proposed

Dwelling

H

I
L

L

S

I
D

E

 
R

O

A

D

© Crown copyright 2020 Ordnance Survey 100053143

Greystone Garth

Pleasant

View

Open up hedge to create

new Access

3

6

9

0

3

0

8

5

Existing Drive and

access to No 26

Garden

Rear Garden

Existing 

Tree's on neighbours 

Property

New trees and shrubs 

to be planted to landscape

and privacy.

41

3

8

6
5

9
4

8

8

TURF

TURF

TURF

Increase wall height to rear

has TWC Recommended

Existing air raid

shelter

                                                        Retaining Gravity wall.

Apple

Pear

Cherry

Alder

Bay Willow

Hawthorne

4

3

8

7

6

1 5

Code      Species                                              Description

                         Mix B ( Large evergreen shrubs with deciduous groundcover))

Species                                                             Size                          Spacing         Comment

Cotoneaster salicifolius floccosus                400-600mm/2l pot       1/m² Graceful evergreen shrub. 3m high
Symphoricarpos x chenaultii (Snowberry).  200-300mm/2l pot       3/m²     Dense spreading deciduous groundcover.
                                                                                                                            600mm high.

                         Mix C ( Medium deciduous shrubs with evergreen groundcover )

Species                                                             Size                          Spacing         Comment

Cornus alba 'Sibirica'( Red-barked Dogwood)   400-600mm/2l pot     1/m² Diceduous shrub. 1.5m high.
Lonicera pileata.                                                 200-300mm/2l pot     3/m²      Dense evergreen shrub.  600mm high.

                         Mix A ( Large deciduous shrubs with evergreen ground conver)

Species                                                             Size                          Spacing         Comment

Amelanchier lamarckii (Snowy Mespilus)    400-600mm/2l pot       1/m² Deciduous shrub 3-5m high.
Senecio (Sunshine)                                         200-300mm/2l pot       3/m²  Dense evergreen shrub. 900mm high.

ROAD SURFACE FINISHES

Tegular Paviors

Tarmac

Si
ng

le
 h

ed
ge

Hedgerow Planting  

Girth 

1.8m high close boarded fence

NEW PLANTING SCHEDULE

Individual trees

Boundary and retaining Wall

KEY - 

Existing Trees

2.4m high close boarded fence.
                                                        Post & Rail fence

MapleWild Cherry 109

Tacktile Paving

                                                     New Gravity wall with fence.

Alder

TURF

Japanese Katsura Tree

2

Land adjacent to No26 Hillside

Road, Ketley Bank, Telford.

Landscape plan

1:200

P2061

HR-00317.11.2020

Planning

N.P

C

.

P
age 67

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
   Graceful evergreen shrub. 3m high 

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
    Diceduous shrub. 1.5m high.   600mm high.      

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
      Deciduous shrub 3-5m high.       Dense evergreen shrub. 900mm high. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
ALL ELEVATIONS ARE VIEWED FROM OUTSIDE UNLESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
CONTRACT NUMBER:

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
OTHERWISE STATED.

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
DRAWING TITLE : 

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
DRAWING No.

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
SCALE A2

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
REV

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
DRAWING ISSUE STATUS

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
REV

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
CONTRACT : 



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

TWC/2021/0191  
Land adjacent 4 Tunnel Cottages, Aqueduct Lane, Stirchley, Telford, Shropshire 
Reserved matters application pursuant to outline planning permission 
TWC/2017/1018 for the erection of 2no.dwellings including details for access, 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale *****amended red line boundary, site 
plans and ecology survey received*****  
 
APPLICANT RECEIVED 
Strata Developments 14/05/2021 
 
PARISH WARD 
Stirchley and Brookside The Nedge 
 
THIS APPLICATION HAS BEEN REFERRED TO PLANNING COMMITTEE BY 

STIRCHLEY & BROOKSIDE PARISH COUNCIL 

 

Online Planning File: 

https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-

applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2021/0191 

 

1.0 SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION 

 

1.1  It is recommended that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted to the 

Development Management Service Delivery Manager to GRANT RESERVED 

MATTERS subject to Condition(s) and Informative(s). 

 

2.0 SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 

 

2.1 The application site is relatively flat parcel of land located between a row of 
traditional terraced properties and the ‘Elms’ Playing Field which forms part of 
Telford Town Park. The frontage of the site is predominantly made up of a 
dense roadside hedge. There is currently a gap in the hedge, which can be 
used as a pedestrian access to the site. 

 
2.2 The site has been cleared for development in the past which was never 

implemented, and since that time a number of trees have started to grow back 
alongside the establishment of weeds and shrubs across the site. There is a 
Local Nature Reserve situated at the east of the site which forms part of the 
Telford Town Park. There are existing residential properties on the opposite 
side of the road, constructed circa. 1970’s. 

 
2.4 The application site is directly opposite the junction for Knightsbridge 

Crescent. Aqueduct Lane itself is a quiet, no through road in the centre of the 
defined Telford urban area, and due to its proximity to the Town Park, has a 
relatively rural appearance despite its central location. The site is within easy 
access of several local centres, including Stirchley, Aqueduct and Brookside. 
Telford Town Centre is located approximately 2.4 miles away. 

 

Page 69

Agenda Item 7c

https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2021/0191
https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2021/0191


 

 

 

3.0 APPLICATION DETAILS 

 

3.1 This application seeks Reserved Matters consent for the erection of a pair of 
dwellings on the land adjacent to No. 4 Tunnel Cottages on Aqueduct Lane in 
Stirchley. The application follows the grant of Outline Planning Consent in 
2018. The plot has been subject to a number of planning applications over 
recent years, however currently remains vacant and undeveloped. 

 
3.2 The application proposes consideration of Reserved Matters for access, 

layout, scale, appearance and landscaping for the proposed pair of dwellings. 
The dwellings proposed consist of a pair of semi-detached 2-bed properties, 
with front gardens and private amenity space to the rear. The dwellings would 
be setback within the site to provide off-street parking to the front of each plot. 
The plots would utilise a shared access onto Aqueduct Lane. 

  
3.3 The application has been subject to the receipt of amended plans and 

additional information, and its subsequent re-consultation. The amendments 
consist of a change to the red line boundary following a land registry search 
being conducted by the Applicant; changes to the visibility splay shown on the 
plans; amendments to the carriageway detail on the edge of the highway; and 
submission of an up-to-date ecology survey. 

 
4.0 RELEVANT HISTORY 

 
4.1 TWC/2017/1018 - Outline Planning Permission for the erection of upto 2no. 

Dwellings with all matters reserved - Outline Consent Granted at Planning 
Committee, 15 June 2018 
 

4.2 TWC/2015/0566 - Erection of 3no. Terraced dwellings with associated 
parking, landscaping and access ***Amended red led line (to extend the plot) 
and additional information received*** - Withdrawn, 21 April 2016 

 
This application was heard at Planning Committee on 28 October 2015 and 
was deferred due to the submission of further Amended Plans. The Applicant 
chose not to proceed with the application following this and it was 
subsequently Withdrawn. 
 

4.3 W2007/0990 - Erection of detached dwelling with construction of a new 
vehicular access ***Amended description*** - Full Granted, 17 September 
2007 

 
This application was granted, however was never implemented. 

 
4.4 W2004/1408 - Residential Development (Outline) – Full Refused, 31 January 

2005 
 

This Outline Application for 3-5 dwellings was refused due to insufficient 
information, the site being of an inadequate size to accommodate the number 
of dwelling proposed without adversely affecting the character of the area and 
neighbouring properties, and the access not being adequate. 

Page 70



 

 

 

5.0 RELEVANT POLICY DOCUMENTS  

 

5.1  National Guidance:  

 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 

5.2  Local Development Plan: 

 

Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031: 

 

SP1 Telford 

SP4 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

C3 Impact of the Development on Highways 

NE1 Biodiversity & Geodiversity  

NE2 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodlands 

NE6 Green Network 

BE1 Design Criteria  

ER11 Flood Risk Management  

ER12 Sewerage Systems and Water Quality  

 

6.0  SUMMARY OF STATUTORY CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

 
6.1 Brookside & Stirchley Parish Council: Object: 
 

- Concerns regarding the highway network, increased traffic and poor 

parking; 

- Visual amenity;  

- Damage to trees and impact upon ancient hedgerow; 

- Surface water drainage issues; 

- Potential landslip; 

- Potential formation of a ribbon development; 

- Request to Green Card the application to have it considered at 

Planning Committee. 

 

6.2 Ecology: Support subject to Condition(s): 

 

- The Conditions requested on the Outline application still remain valid; 

- Prior to the development commencing, an ecological mitigation 

strategy shall be submitted and approved in writing; 

- Prior to the development being brought into use, details of artificial 

nesting and roosting boxes, and a lighting plan shall be submitted and 

approved in writing; 

- Requests the inclusion of Informatives regarding nesting wild birds. 

 

Page 71



 

 

 

6.3  Highways: Support subject to Condition(s): 

 

- Under the adopted local plan parking standards the development as a 

whole requires 3.2 on plot car parking spaces - 4 are being provided; 

- The site provides a turning court which meets the geometric 

requirements to allow a forward gear exit from the site onto Aqueduct 

Lane for vehicles; 

- There is a requirement for the development, under the outline consent, 

to provide visibility splays of 2 x 33 metres which the Applicant has 

shown can be achieved without removal of any roadside hedgerow 

adjacent to the site; 

- It is acknowledged that the properties ‘Tunnel Cottages’ attract a lot of 

on-street parking. The visibility splays take this into account; 

- With regards to the faux carriageway edge line across Aqueduct Lane 

on the development side shown on the proposed plans, this would 

appear to be a carry forward of OS base mapping used on AutoCad 

tiles and possibly suggests a historic survey line of hedge or margin 

growth into the carriageway. This is not really evident on site today but 

the 700mm margin indicated is acknowledged to be a reasonable 

indicator of the front bumper waiting point for any car pulling out of the 

proposed access. The feature is not a proposed narrow footway; 

- The traffic generation from the proposed 2no. unit 2-bed development 

would be insignificant against local extant background traffic in the 

area; 

- Aqueduct Lane, Knightsbridge Crescent and Belgrave Crescent are all 

adopted but unclassified minor roads and when considered in context 

against many other higher order residential streets in the Borough 

exhibit low levels of traffic and speed; 

- In the past 10 years there have been no recorded accidents in the 

vicinity of the site which have resulted in either a slight, serious or fatal 

accident; 

- It was determined at Outline stage that the plot is suitable for 

development from a highways perspective, and there would be no 

defendable reason to refuse this application. 

 

6.4 Drainage: Support subject to Condition(s): 

 

- The drainage Condition requested on the Outline application is still 

applicable: A full scheme of both foul and surface water shall be 

submitted and approved in writing prior to the commencement of the 

development. 

 

 

 

Page 72



 

 

 

6.5 Arboriculture: Support subject to Condition(s): 

 

- The Conditions requested on the Outline application are still applicable: 

Prior to any tree felling taking place, a scheme for replacement trees 

must be submitted and approved in writing. 

 

6.6 Shropshire Fire: Comment: Propose Fire Safety Informative. 

 

6.7 Archaeology: No comment. 

 

7.0 COMMUNITY CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

 

7.1 Public Representations: 

 

7.2 38no. neighbouring properties have been formally consulted on the proposal. 

The Local Planning Authority have received 68 letters of objection from 32no. 

addresses in response to the consultation. A Petition from local residents has 

also been submitted in objection to the proposal, containing over 200 

signatures. The contents of all comments are available in full on the planning 

file, but key points have been summarised as follows: 

 
Material Planning Considerations: 
 

- Impact upon highway safety and the narrow lane as a result of the 
increase in traffic from the new dwellings; 

- Increased parking along the road opposite the junction for 
Knightsbridge Crescent; 

- Insufficient parking provided for each property to prevent cars parking 
along the road, alongside insufficient car parking for Tunnel Cottages; 

- Lack of ability to achieve a suitable visibility splay; 
- Lack of pedestrian footpath along Aqueduct Lane. Safety for 

pedestrians; 
- Houses will be out of keeping with current traditional properties (Tunnel 

Cottages) and not sympathetic to the surrounding area due to being set 
back within the site; 

- Scale and appearance of the new dwellings out of character; 
- Loss of privacy and overbearing impact upon the existing dwellings; 
- Fears that by allowing developers to build a pair of houses, this will set 

precedent to allow building on fields; 
- Proximity to a Local Nature Reserve; 
- Proximity to the ‘Elms’ Playing field and Telford Town Park, noting that 

the application cuts into a section of the Town Park; 
- Drainage infrastructure in place cannot cope with existing properties 

and does not have capacity for any further dwellings; 
- The removal of any hedges is not acceptable and would spoil the 

appearance of the lane. Note that the hedge running along Aqueduct 
Lane is part of the Green Guarantee and should be protected; 

Page 73



 

 

 

- Telford has exceeded its 5-year land supply and does not need any 
further new houses; 

- The development site contains wildlife including newts, snakes, hares 
and nesting birds; 

- The Preliminary Ecological Report is out of date; 
- The removal of trees for the proposal is not acceptable; 
- Loss of green space and amenity of the area; 
- Brownfield land exists elsewhere and should be utilised for housing 

instead; 
- References made to the previous applications on the site, 

predominantly TWC/2015/0566, the unacceptable nature of this 
application and how it was rejected; 

- The site is formally agricultural / garden land and should not be built 
on. Garden grabbing has also been raised as an issue; 

- The construction traffic to build the dwellings would be unsuitable for 
the lane; 

- No public benefit and not in the interests of the local community; 
- Planning and Highways Officers have not visited the site to meet with 

the public; 
- Inaccuracy of plans and errors made on previous application plans; 
- Incorrect inclusion of a footpath along the front of the site; 
- Outline planning permission was granted based on incorrect plans and 

should be considered invalid; 
- Inaccurate application form details; 
- Outline planning was recommended to be granted for 2-years but 

appears to have been granted for 3-years; 
- ‘Red spot’ on a tree on the Town Park boundary found, and suggested 

to be marked for removal. 
 
7.3 A number of objections raising non-material planning considerations make the 

following observations: 
 

- Loss of view of the Town Park from neighbouring properties; 
- Suggestion that the land should instead be used as an extension to the 

existing nature reserve or community garden land; 
- The query of why houses need to be built in an area where residents 

do not wish further houses to be built; 
- Suggestion that the application should not be considered by the 

Council and should be Withdrawn; 
- The query of why another application has been submitted when 

previous applications have been rejected; 
- Objections regarding the planning process and changes being made to 

the application underhandedly by the Council; 
- Complaints made regarding Planning Officer’s and maladministration 

by the Council; 
- The Leader of the Council is a Director of the Applicant’s company and 

is a conflict of interest; 
- Requests for comments on previous applications to be taken into 

account; 

Page 74



 

 

 

- Lack of information on the application form provided about the 
Applicant’s Agent who is an employee of TWC; 

- The application has been referred to the Secretary of State for Local 
Government as a complaint. 

 

8.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

 

8.1 Having regard to the Development Plan and other material considerations 

including comments received during the consultation process, the planning 

application raises the following main issues: 

 

  -  Principle of Development 

  - Layout, Scale and Design 

  - Highways, Access and Parking 

  - Neighbouring Amenity 

- Response to consultation comments  

 

8.2 Principle of Development 

 

8.2.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Act (2004) states that 

applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with 

the Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

8.2.2 This application is a Reserved Matters application following an Outline 

Approval at Planning Committee in 2018. The Outline Approval established 

the principle of development on the site, and by granting Planning Permission, 

the Council have acknowledged that the site is suitable for development. The 

Outline Consent was Granted for up to 2no. dwellings, and therefore it has 

been acknowledged that the site is large enough to accommodate 2no. 

dwellings. The Outline Approval also confirmed that the site can be accessed 

and drained sufficiently in order to support new residential development. 

Where an outline planning permission has been granted, a further application 

must be made within 3 years of the date of the approval for the outstanding 

reserved matters. This current application is seeking the approval of these 

outstanding Reserved Matters for layout, scale, appearance, and access and 

landscaping, and must be considered in conjunction with the Outline approval. 

The LPA is therefore only able to consider these five outstanding matters 

alone, and cannot revisit the principle of development. 

 

8.2.3 However a number of comments from neighbouring properties have been 

raised regarding the principle of developing the site, in particular that building 

on the site would be encroaching onto green space and the Town Park, and 

that developing the site would allow for other developments on Town Park 

land. The site is privately owned land, in that it is not part of the Telford Town 

Page 75



 

 

 

Park designation; there is no access to Telford Town Park through this site, 

nor does the site have any open amenity use. Furthermore the site has no 

land designation in the Local Plan, and is not protected from any ‘Green 

Network / Local Wildlife Site / Local Nature Reserve’ status. Therefore 

developing the site would not result in the loss of any designated green space 

and the site is considered to be a suitable vacant infill plot in a sustainable 

location. 

 

8.2.4 Whilst the principle of development has already been accepted, Officers again 

confirm for the purposes of this report that the proposal is compliant with 

Policies SP1 and SP4 of the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan (TWLP) and only 

the Reserved Matters can be considered under this application. 

 
8.3 Layout, Scale and Design 
 
8.3.0 Policy BE1 of the TWLP advises that development should respect and 

respond positively to its setting, and should enhance the built and natural 

environment. 

  

8.3.1 The scheme proposes 2no. dwellings which are semi-detached, each with two 

bedrooms. Each plot proposes a generous rear garden, and small front 

garden with off street parking provided for each property. The dwellings would 

be set back within the site to accommodate the parking at the front of the 

plots. The dwellings appear to be modest in scale and sit comfortably within 

the plots. 

 

8.3.2 The properties forming the large estate opposite the site on Aqueduct Lane 

and Knightsbridge Crescent were constructed in the 1970s and Tunnel 

Cottages adjacent to the site consist of a more traditional design and are 

more historic. Due to the variety of properties in the vicinity, it is considered 

that a pair of additional dwellings being erected in this area would not cause 

harm to the character of the area. The design of the dwellings put forward is 

considered to be appropriate as it takes reference from both the traditional 

Tunnel Cottages, and the estate later constructed on Aqueduct Lane and 

Knightsbridge Crescent through a combination of architectural features and 

use of materials. The properties are proposed to be constructed from both 

brick and render, directly reflecting the materials used within the vicinity and 

the properties have been designed to appear more traditional, reflecting the 

neighbouring properties, Tunnel Cottages. 

 

8.3.3 It is acknowledged that the dwellings would be set back within the plots, which 

does differ to the properties Tunnel Cottages adjacent. However as Tunnel 

Cottages are only made up of 3no. properties, these do not form a strong 

building line and therefore the layout is not required to be directly replicated 

Page 76



 

 

 

by the new development. The set back of the plots is more characteristic of 

the later houses opposite the site on Aqueduct Lane, and provide off-street 

parking, similar to those properties. As Tunnel Cottages are historic, there 

would not have been a requirement for off-street parking at the time of their 

construction, and therefore the proposed plots would satisfy current 

regulations with regard to parking, whilst also reflecting the overriding 

character of the area by being set back. 

 

8.3.4 Comments have been received from neighbouring properties regarding the 

layout of the plot and the set back of the dwellings proposed, referencing a 

previous application in 2015. It is noted that each application is assessed on 

its own merits, acknowledging that the 2015 application was prior to the 

adoption of the current Local Plan in 2018 and is not comparable with the 

current scheme. The 2015 application also proposed 3no. dwellings rather 

than 2no. as proposed and is therefore materially different. 

 

8.3.5 On balance, it is considered the appropriate design and use of materials 

would ensure the properties are respectful and sympathetic to the setting of 

the site. The set back of the properties would still be reflective of the character 

of the area and would be required to meet modern parking standards. The 

scale, layout, design and appearance of the dwellings proposed would not 

cause any significant adverse impacts upon the streetscene and are in 

accordance with Policy BE1 of the TWLP.  

 
8.4    Highways, Access and Parking 

 
8.4.1 The proposal would involve the creation of a new access onto Aqueduct Lane 

at the front of the site. The principle of demonstrating that suitable access to 

the site could be achieved was established at the Outline stage, however the 

Council Highway Engineer has reviewed the scheme in detail, alongside the 

consultation comments to be able to make an informed recommendation for 

the scheme. 

 

8.4.2 The proposal is considered to have sufficient parking to support the dwellings 

as outlined in the Telford and Wrekin Local Plan Parking Standards for the 

suburban area and the spaces provided exceed the standards by providing 

4no. spaces where 3.2 are required. 

 

8.4.3 The site provides a turning area which meets the geometric requirements to 

allow a vehicles to exit the site in forward gear. 

 

8.4.4 With regard to the visibility splays provided, there is a Condition on the Outline 

Approval which specifies that a splay of 2 by 33 metres must be achieved. 

The Applicant has provided two examples of how the 33 metres visibility splay 

Page 77



 

 

 

can be achieved to the south depending on whether vehicles are parked up 

outside Tunnel Cottages or not. It is unreasonable for the applicant to account 

for every parking scenario as parking habits change and there are day-to-day 

variations. From time-to-time there may be some encroachment into these 

splays, however in residential areas this type of arrangement is not 

uncommon, particularly on older Victorian Streets, and in practice causes no 

issues. 

 

8.4.5 The Highways Officer acknowledges that cars are regularly parked outside 

Tunnel Cottages on the highway however the visibility splay has been 

designed to take this into account. In addition, it could be reasoned that 

having on-street parking at times outside the existing Tunnel Cottages allows 

drivers exiting from the development to creep further out onto Aqueduct Lane 

for visibility due to the resulting deflection of traffic away from the site access. 

 

8.4.6 The applicant has provided a representation of how the 33 metres visibility 

splay can be achieved to the north. In order to negate protected hedge 

removal, the splay has been aligned to the centre line of Aqueduct Road in 

the direction of Belgrave Crescent. It is to be noted that the splay line has not 

been measured tight to the corner of the hedge to achieve this so in reality 

could be pulled slightly more towards the nearside kerbs enhancing things 

further. Notwithstanding this, measurements to the centre line are generally 

only accepted if three tests can be met, namely: 

 

i) A forward gear exit from the minor access can be made; 

ii) It is the visibility splay to the left of the driver, as a result of the UK 

driving on the left hand side of the road, so the higher order road 

vehicles are on the offside; 

iii) It is unlikely that vehicles approaching from the left will cross the centre 

line onto the nearside in the vicinity of the minor access. 

 

8.4.7 Due to the requisite on plot turning facility, the splay being to the left and the 

provision of verge margin crossover parking for existing properties No’s. 19, 

21 and 23 Aqueduct Lane that on balance the centre line principle is 

justifiable. 

 

8.4.8 In respect of public representations noting a narrow ‘footway’ shown on the 

plans at the front of the site, the submitted drawings indicate some form of 

faux carriageway edge line across Aqueduct Lane on the development side. 

This would appear to be a carry forward of OS base mapping used on 

AutoCad tiles and possibly suggests a historic survey line of hedge or margin 

growth into the carriageway – this feature is not a proposed narrow footway. 

 

Page 78



 

 

 

8.4.9 The faux 700mm margin is not evident on site today, rather representing the 

front bumper waiting point of existing traffic without unsafely interfering with 

the south to north passage of vehicles on Aqueduct Lane. Accordingly, the 2 

metre seated driver position into the site from this point, on balance, is 

considered to be justifiable. 

 

8.4.10 With regard to concerns raised in relation to additional traffic and highways 

safety, it is considered that the traffic generation from the proposed pair of 2-

bed units would be insignificant against local background traffic in the area. 

The surrounding highway networks exhibit low levels of traffic and speed 

when compared with other minor roads in the borough, and in the last 10-

years no accidents in the vicinity of the site have been recorded which have 

resulted in either a slight, serious or fatal accident. 

 

8.4.11 The Highways Engineer concludes that, on balance, there would be no 

defendable case to object to the Reserved Matters application as the principle 

of achieving a suitable access point as demonstrated at Outline stage. The 

application is consistent with the expectations for Reserved Matters 

applications and is in line with Policy C3 of the TWLP. 

 
8.5    Neighbouring Amenity 
 

8.5.1 Telford & Wrekin Plan Policy BE1 states that new developments should not 

prejudice existing surrounding uses. 

 

8.5.2 The position of the dwellings proposed would be set back within the site, and 

some concern has been raised by neighbouring properties regarding the 

impacts of overbearing and loss of privacy which may occur as a result of the 

proposals. The only neighbouring property in close proximity to the site is No. 

4 Tunnel Cottages. 

 

8.5.3 Officers consider that despite the setback position of the properties, due to the 

separation distances in place, the scheme is unlikely to cause any adverse 

harm upon the nearest neighbouring property, No. 4 Tunnel Cottages. The 

dwellings would be set back behind the garden of No. 4 Tunnel Cottages so 

would sit almost level with the vacant land to the rear rather than the garden 

associated with No. 4, but would also not be set back far enough to cause any 

overlooking into the garden itself. On balance, this relationship is considered 

to be acceptable and would cause no direct loss of privacy to No 4 Tunnel 

Cottages. 

 

8.5.4 It is acknowledged that No. 4 will experience a change in outlook, given the 

current open view of the Town Park, however loss of a view cannot be taken 

on board as a planning consideration.  

Page 79



 

 

 

8.5.5 The LPA therefore considers that the scheme would not cause any significant 

detrimental impacts upon neighbouring properties and would be in compliance 

with Policy BE1 of the Local Plan. 

 

8.6  Response to Consultation Comments  

 

8.6.1 Noting comments in respect of the drainage of the site, the principle of 

draining the site was established at the Outline stage where the Council’s 

Drainage Team raised no objection to the proposal subject to the inclusion of 

Conditions. The Conditions remain valid and will be required to be discharged 

prior to the development commencing. 

 

8.6.2 Regarding biodiversity on the site, a large number of concerns were raised by 

the public about impact upon habitats, species, impact upon the Local Nature 

Reserve and the suitability of the Ecology report submitted by the Applicant. 

An Ecology Report was submitted with the original Outline Application, where, 

following review of the survey, recommendations for Condition(s) and 

Informative(s) were made by the Ecology Officer. No Condition was included 

to request a revised/amended Ecology Report at Reserved Matters stage. 

Whilst not required for the consideration of this application, the applicant 

provided an updated report which concluded there was no change on site 

from the original application. The Ecology Officer has confirmed in their 

comments that the original Outline Conditions remain applicable. 

 

8.6.3 Furthermore, concerns have been raised regarding the hedgerow fronting the 

site, namely the impact of its removal and the designation on the remainder of 

the hedge which falls outside of the site boundary. The hedge at the front of 

the site is privately owned and does not hold any designation under planning 

legislation, and can be removed at any time regardless of this application; it 

can therefore be removed to facilitate the development. As the adjoining 

section of hedge falls outside of the Applicant’s land ownership and is part of 

the Council’s Green Guarantee, this is not part of the application and cannot 

be removed. Only the small section of hedge at the front of the site is 

proposed to be removed as part of the application. The visibility splays for the 

development have been designed to ensure no hedgerow outside of the site 

boundary will be impacted or removed, and this is confirmed within the 

Highways Engineers comments from their assessment of the scheme. 

 

8.6.4 Concerns have been raised in respect of a tree within the Town Park 

boundary nearby to the site marked with a ‘red spot’ and some comments 

suggested this had been marked for removal. As the tree is outside the site 

boundary and not marked for removal on the plans, the Tree’s removal could 

not be authorised through this planning application. From discussions with the 

Applicant’s Agent, they are not aware of the marking of the tree and have 

Page 80



 

 

 

confirmed no trees will be removed until such a time when permission has 

been granted and the appropriate Conditions have been discharged. 

 

8.6.5 A comment has been raised by the Parish Council in respect of land stability 

at the rear of the site. As the site does not fall within an area of known land 

instability or high risk mining, it would be the Applicant’s responsibility to 

ensure the site is stable, in accordance with the advice within the NPPF. 

 

8.6.6 Concern has been raised with regard to the impacts from construction 

vehicles due to the narrowness of the lane. The LPA propose the inclusion of 

a Site Environmental Management Plan (SEMP) Condition on the consent so 

that the Applicant can provide details of vehicle parking, storage of machinery 

and materials, wheel washing and other matters. Whilst the LPA acknowledge 

the development may cause some disruption for a short period of time from 

construction, a SEMP would help to reduce any daily disruption caused and 

manage operations of the development. 

 

8.6.7 It is noted that a large number of comments received as part of the 

consultation are not material planning considerations that are not addressed 

as part of the planning application. Allegations raised regarding 

maladministration by the Council, conflicts of interest and underhanded work 

have been discussed as separate matters outside of the planning process. 

 

8.6.8 Acknowledging comments querying why the application has been registered 

and is being considered despite the public objection and the apparent 

inaccuracy of the plans, the LPA advise that it is the statutory role of the Local 

Planning Authority to register and consider any valid planning application, and 

its determination should be within the statutory time periods. The refusal of 

the LPA to register an application, or determine within the set time frame 

could result in an appeal directly to the Secretary of State, who will then 

determine the application; the LPA would only be able to make comments on 

this appeal and would have no control over the outcome or any conditions.  

The LPA are not in control of the submission of applications, or what plans are 

contained within the application; the LPA must make a determination and 

cannot refuse to validate and consider applications because of public 

opposition. Furthermore In accordance with the NPPF, the LPA has a duty to 

‘approach decisions on proposed development in a positive and creative way’ 

(NPPF 2012), and will therefore seek to resolve any issues that have become 

apparent from the consultation responses, and other material planning 

considerations. 

 

8.6.9 In addition to this, some responses to the consultation have requested the 

LPA withdraw the application, however only the Applicant or their appointed 

Agent can request to withdraw an application. Other comments suggest the 

Page 81



 

 

 

site should be gifted to the Town Park and included as part of the nature 

reserve, or that other brownfield land should be utilised elsewhere. The LPA 

have no control over the land ownership and must consider any application 

that is submitted for the site in question. The planning process cannot 

influence the ownership of land and cannot insist upon a different location for 

the development put forward. 

 

8.6.10 With regard to the plans submitted, a number of responses from the 

consultation believe the plans to be inaccurate. It is the role of the LPA to 

check all plans in detail and for consultees to measure the plans in order to 

reach an informed decision. Whilst the LPA do not visit the site and re-

measure the site to ensure the plans have been drawn correctly, the LPA do 

check all plans in detail to ensure the information submitted is consistent with 

the site, and all plans are to-scale to enable an informed decision to be made. 

In this instance, the LPA have conducted an assessment and are satisfied 

that the plans submitted are accurate. 

 

8.6.11 Based on the above conclusions, it is considered the comments raised during 

the consultation have been addressed in detail and the concerns mitigated 

where required. 

 

9.0  CONCLUSIONS 

 

9.1 On balance, the Reserved Matters application to erect a pair of dwellings is 

considered to be acceptable. The site is in a sustainable location and it has 

been demonstrated that the site can be adequately drained, accessed and 

appropriate parking provision is available. The scale, design and layout of the 

scheme is considered to be appropriate and would respect and respond 

positively to the setting of the local area. No significant detrimental impacts 

would occur upon neighbouring residents as a result and the comments 

raised by neighbouring properties have been addressed. As a result, the 

proposal is considered to comply with policies of the Telford & Wrekin Local 

Plan and is in accordance with national policies contained within the NPPF. 

 

10.0  RECOMMENDATION 

 

10.1 Based on the conclusions above, the recommendation to the Planning 

Committee on this application is that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted 

to the Development Management Service Delivery Manager to GRANT 

RESERVED MATTERS subject to the following Condition(s) and 

Informative(s): 

 

B150 Site Environmental Management Plan 
Tree & Hedge Protection (incl. new hedge to rear of Visibility 

Page 82



 

 

 

Splay where achievable) 
C013 Parking and Turning Areas Provided Prior to Occupation and 

retained in perpetuity 
C38 Works in Accordance with the Approved Plans 

First floor Windows within side elevation to be obscurely glazed, 
top hung only; no further windows at first floor 
Removal of Permitted Development Rights in respect of side 
extensions and outbuilding 

 
I32 Fire Authority 
I40 Conditions 
I43 Reasons for Grant of Outline Permission 
RANPPF1 

 
 
 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



1:1250

Location Plan

biT
Wellington Civic Offices, Larkin Way, Wellington, Telford,
Shropshire, TF1 1LX
T: 01952 384500
W: www.bit-group.co.uk

Drawing Number

Tunnel Cottages,Aqueduct Lane,
Stirchley

Client

Layout Title

Project

The Wrekin Housing Trust

Scale @ A3     Status 

RevID Detail Transmi
tted By

Transmi
ttal Set
Date

Safety Health and Environmental Information Box
Construction Risks, Maintenance/cleaning Risks, Demolition/adaptation Risks

This document and its design content is copyright ©. It shall
be read in conjunc on with all other associated project
informa on including models, specifica ons, schedules and
related consultants documents. Do not scale from documents. All
dimensions to be checked on site. Immediately report any
discrepancies, errors or omisions on this document to the
Originator. If in doubt ASK.

© Crown copyright [and database rights] 2015 Ordnance Survey
100019694.   re-use or addi onal photo copies of of this map
are not permi ed except where  the end user holds a relevant
licence with Ordnance Survey.

Notes:

     project       originator    zone      level       type     role                  number                      rev

18360 biT A_03101

33

W
ar
d 
Bd
y

CR

CP

10

11

14

5

7

1

17

50

10

19

27

32

12

18

15

CRESCENT

2

1

KNIGHTSBRIDGE

CRESCENT

BELGRAV
E

40

15

8

C
P

W
a
r
d
 
B
d
y

4

Co
tt
ag
es

11

1

7

Tu
nn
el 23

145.7m

AQ
UE
DU
CT
 L
AN
E

S
ilk
in
 
W
a
y
 
(P
a
t
h
)

C
y
c
le
 
T
r
a
c
k

1

2

9

W
a
r
d
 
B
d
y

Und

C
P

51

11

14

7

89

4
9

52

1

37

8

28

16
5

C
y
c
le
 
T
r
a
c
k

9

85

30

1

1

EDITH CLOSE

3

83

2

A
Y
L
W
IN
 
C
O
U
R
T

15

24

2
9

26

58

E
L
L
IS
 
P
E
T
E
R
S
 
D
R
IV
E

1

27

7

5

10

4
5 2

2

P
A
R
G
E
T
E
R
 
C
L
O
S
E

12

1

4

17

7

60

6

S
ilk
in
 
W
a
y
 
(P
a
t
h
)

11

14
19

87

CADFAEL DRIVE

Planning

N

XX GF DR 03

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1:100

Block Plan

biT
Wellington Civic Offices, Larkin Way, Wellington, Telford,
Shropshire, TF1 1LX
T: 01952 384500
W: www.bit-group.co.uk

Drawing Number

Tunnel Cottages,Aqueduct Lane,
Stirchley

Client

Layout Title

Project

The Wrekin Housing Trust

Scale @ A1     Status 

RevID Detail Transmitt
ed By

Transmittal
Set Date

Safety Health and Environmental Information Box
Construction Risks, Maintenance/cleaning Risks, Demolition/adaptation Risks

This document and its design content is copyright ©. It shall be read in
conjunc on with all other associated project informa on including models,
specifica ons, schedules and related consultants documents. Do not scale
from documents. All dimensions to be checked on site. Immediately report
any discrepancies, errors or omisions on this document to the Originator. If
in doubt ASK.

© Crown copyright [and database rights] 2015 Ordnance Survey
100019694.   re-use or addi onal photo copies of of this map are not
permi ed except where  the end user holds a relevant licence with
Ordnance Survey.

Notes:

     project       originator    zone      level       type     role                  number                      rev

18360 biT A_03102

4

Co
tt
ag
es

Tu
nn
el

Bin Store

Bin Store

ro
w

 o
f p

os
ts

145.50

145.75

146.25

145.25

14
5.2

5

145.50

146.00

145.00

stone wall
(to be retained and repointed)

water marker
water marker
water marker

146.26

14
6.

30

14
6.3

2

14
6.3

2

146.39

146.37 146.33

WSV
WSV

WSV
IC

IC

Aq
ue

du
ct 

La
ne

Knightsbridge Court
Planning

N

XX GF DR 03

LEGEND:

90° extended herringbone 200
x 100 concrete block paving

600 x 600 paving slabs

210L round garden water butt

rotary washing line

lawn terf

Tree replacement and planting
scheme further details and
specification will follow as a
discharge of condition

Ki
tch

en
/D

ini
ng

Roo
m

W
C

Liv
ing

 R
oo

m

Ki
tch

en
/D

ini
ng

Roo
m

W
C

Liv
ing

 R
oo

m

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1:200

Visability Splays

biT
Wellington Civic Offices, Larkin Way, Wellington, Telford,
Shropshire, TF1 1LX
T: 01952 384500
W: www.bit-group.co.uk

Drawing Number

Tunnel Cottages,Aqueduct Lane,
Stirchley

Client

Layout Title

Project

The Wrekin Housing Trust

Scale @ A2     Status 

RevID Detail Transmi
tted By

Transmi
ttal Set
Date

Safety Health and Environmental Information Box
Construction Risks, Maintenance/cleaning Risks, Demolition/adaptation Risks

This document and its design content is copyright ©. It shall
be read in conjunc on with all other associated project
informa on including models, specifica ons, schedules and
related consultants documents. Do not scale from documents. All
dimensions to be checked on site. Immediately report any
discrepancies, errors or omisions on this document to the
Originator. If in doubt ASK.

© Crown copyright [and database rights] 2015 Ordnance Survey
100019694.   re-use or addi onal photo copies of of this map are
not permi ed except where  the end user holds a relevant
licence with Ordnance Survey.

Notes:

     project       originator    zone      level       type     role                  number                      rev

18360 biT A_03103

1

4

Co
tt
ag
es

1

Tu
nn
el

23

1

2

Bin Store

Bin Store

Ki
tch

en
/D

ini
ng

Roo
m

W
C

Liv
ing

 R
oo

m

Ki
tch

en
/D

ini
ng

Roo
m

W
C

Liv
ing

 R
oo

m

ro
w

 o
f p

os
ts

145.50

145.75

146.25

145.25

14
5.2

5

145.50

146.00

145.00

stone wall
(to be retained and repointed)

water marker
water marker
water marker

146.26

14
6.

30

14
6.3

2

14
6.3

2

14
6.4

2

146.39

146.37 146.33

WSV
WSV

WSV
IC

IC

Aq
ue

du
ct 

La
ne

Knightsbridge Court

Planning

XX GF DR 03

Visability Splay -
Highways Condition of
2m by 33m

   01                  Access altered                     JM      24.07.19
   02                 Topo/Trees/Foilage added                   JM  

P
age 89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1:50

Proposed First Floor Plan

biT
Wellington Civic Offices, Larkin Way, Wellington, Telford,
Shropshire, TF1 1LX
T: 01952 384500
W: www.bit-group.co.uk

Drawing Number

Tunnel Cottages,Aqueduct Lane,
Stirchley

Client

Layout Title

Project

The Wrekin Housing Group

Scale @ A2     Status 

RevID Detail Transmi
tted By

Transmi
ttal Set
Date

Safety Health and Environmental Information Box
Construction Risks, Maintenance/cleaning Risks, Demolition/adaptation Risks

This document and its design content is copyright ©. It shall
be read in conjunc on with all other associated project
informa on including models, specifica ons, schedules and
related consultants documents. Do not scale from documents. All
dimensions to be checked on site. Immediately report any
discrepancies, errors or omisions on this document to the
Originator. If in doubt ASK.

© Crown copyright [and database rights] 2015 Ordnance Survey
100019694.   re-use or addi onal photo copies of of this map are
not permi ed except where  the end user holds a relevant
licence with Ordnance Survey.

Notes:

     project       originator    zone      level       type     role                  number                      rev

18360 biT A_03244

E-01

E-
02

E-
03

E-04

S-3 S-3

1,237.5 1,677.5 1,585.0 2,465.0 1,585.0 1,677.5 1,237.5

4,
49

0.
0

68
5.

0
66

5.
0

4,
50

0.
0

1,115.0 1,585.0 890.0 685.0 2,915.0 685.0 890.0 1,585.0 1,115.0

S-1 S-1

S-
2

S-
2

Bathroom

Bedroom 1 Bedroom 1

Bathroom

Bedroom 2Bedroom 2

Planning

XX FF DR 01

   01                Layout changed following discussions with planning                JM       15.08.19

P
age 91



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1:50

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

biT
Wellington Civic Offices, Larkin Way, Wellington, Telford,
Shropshire, TF1 1LX
T: 01952 384500
W: www.bit-group.co.uk

Drawing Number

Tunnel Cottages,Aqueduct Lane,
Stirchley

Client

Layout Title

Project

The Wrekin Housing Group

Scale @ A2     Status 

RevID Detail Transmi
tted By

Transmi
ttal Set
Date

Safety Health and Environmental Information Box
Construction Risks, Maintenance/cleaning Risks, Demolition/adaptation Risks

This document and its design content is copyright ©. It shall
be read in conjunc on with all other associated project
informa on including models, specifica ons, schedules and
related consultants documents. Do not scale from documents. All
dimensions to be checked on site. Immediately report any
discrepancies, errors or omisions on this document to the
Originator. If in doubt ASK.

© Crown copyright [and database rights] 2015 Ordnance Survey
100019694.   re-use or addi onal photo copies of of this map are
not permi ed except where  the end user holds a relevant
licence with Ordnance Survey.

Notes:

     project       originator    zone      level       type     role                  number                      rev

18360 biT A_03243

E-01

E-
02

E-
03

E-04

3,
59

0.
0

68
5.

0
2,

69
0.

0
1,

58
5.

0
1,

79
0.

0

1,340.0 1,585.0 1,002.5 1,022.5 1,565.0 1,022.5 1,002.5 1,585.0 1,340.0

1,237.5 1,677.5 1,585.0 2,465.0 1,585.0 1,677.5 1,237.5

S-3 S-3

Kitchen/Dining
Room

WC

Living Room

Kitchen/Dining
Room

WC

Living Room

S-1 S-1

S-
2

S-
2

F F

Planning

01XX GF DR

P
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes
	Minutes of the Previous Meeting - 19 May 2021
	Minutes

	Minutes of the Previous Meeting - 2 June 2021

	6 Tree Preservation Order
	Appendix 1 - Map
	Appendix 2 - Objection Letter - 37 and 39 Ercall Lane
	Appendix 3 - Objection Letter 37 and 39 Ercall Lane - response from Tree Officer
	Objection Email
	Objection Email Response

	7 Planning Applications for Determination
	7a TWC/2010/0828 - Land at Ironstone, Lawley, Telford, Shropshire
	1. Location plan
	Sheets
	L(00)002 - Site Location Plan


	2. Proposed Site Plan - Affordable Plots Plan
	3. Phases and Parts of Phases Plan (Phase 11 Deed of Variation)

	7b TWC/2020/1068 - Site of 26 Hillside Road, Ketley Bank, Telford, Shropshire
	1. Location Plan
	Sheets and Views
	HR-001


	2. Proposed Site Plan and Landscaping Plan
	Sheets and Views
	HR-003



	7c TWC/2021/0191 - Land adjacent 4 Tunnel Cottages, Aqueduct Lane, Stirchley, Telford, Shropshire
	1. Location Plan
	2. Block Plan
	3. Site Plan and Visibility Splays
	4. Proposed First Floor Plan
	A_03244 Proposed First Floor Plan

	5. Proposed Ground Floor Plan
	A_03243 Proposed Ground Floor Plan

	6. Proposed Elevations




